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AUDITOR'S REPORT ON THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS ISSUED BY AN INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
To the shareholders of Ktesios Real Estate SOCIMI, S.A.:
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Ktesios Real Estate SOCIMI, S.A. (the Company), which
comprise the balance sheet at 31 December 2021, the income statement, the statement of changes in
equity, the cash flow statement and the notes thereto for the period ended 31 December 2021.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view in all material respects
of the equity and financial position of the Company at 31 December 2021 and of financial performance
and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework (identified in note 2 to the notes to the financial statements) and, specifically, the
accounting principles and policies contained therein.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with the current standards on auditing in Spain. Our
responsibilities under those standards are described below in the section on the Auditor's
responsibilities in connection with the audit of the financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Company in accordance with ethical requirements, including independence
requirements, which are applicable to our audit of annual accounts in Spain as required by the
regulations governing auditing. In this regard, we have not provided services other than those relating
to the auditing of accounts, nor have there been any situations or circumstances which, in accordance
with the provisions of the aforementioned regulatory regulations, have affected the necessary
independence in such a way that it has been compromised.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those which, in our professional judgement, are the areas of higher assessed risk
of material misstatement in our audit of the annual accounts for the current period. These risks have
been addressed in the context of our audit of the annual accounts as a whole and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not express a separate opinion on these risks.
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Recognition and measurement of real estate investments
At 31 December 2021, investment property amounted to 9,690,000 euros, representing 75% of the
Company's total assets.
In accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework, investment property is measured at
the time of acquisition at either cost or production cost. They are subsequently valued at the
acquisition price less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. At least by the end of the fiscal
year, the Company must assess whether there is any indication of impairment, which is taken to be
the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use, making any necessary corrections.
The relevance of the amounts recorded by the Company in 2021 under the heading of investment
property, as well as the weight that this heading has over total assets at the end of the year means
that we have considered the recording and valuation of investment property as the most relevant
aspect of our audit.
The relevance of the real estate investments heading over the total assets of the Company makes this
a more relevant aspect of the audit, having applied the following procedures:
•

Obtaining the supporting documentation relating to the acquisition cost of the properties held
by the Company, verification of the distribution between land and projection carried out by
the Company and recalculation of their net book value at the date of the financial statements.

•

Recalculation of the impairment recorded by the Company on the basis of the values provided
in the valuation report.

•

Verification of the competence, capacity and independence of the expert by obtaining
confirmation and verification of his recognised prestige in the market.

•

Verification of the impairment test performed by the Company.

•

Verification that the information disclosed in the financial statements is sufficient and
appropriate in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

Other information: Management report
Other information refers exclusively to the management report for fiscal year 2021, the preparation
of which is the responsibility of the Company's directors and is not an integral part of the annual
accounts.
Our auditor's opinion on the annual accounts does not cover the management report. Our
responsibility for the management report, in accordance with the requirements of the regulations
governing the activity of auditing accounts, consists of evaluating and reporting on the concordance
of the management report with the annual accounts, based on the knowledge of the entity obtained
in the performance of the auditing of said accounts and to evaluate and report on whether the content
and presentation of the management report are in accordance with the applicable. If, on the basis of
the work we have carried out, we conclude that there are material defects, we are obliged to report
them.
Based on the work performed, as described in the above paragraph, the information contained in the
management report is consistent with that of the financial statements for 2021 and its content and
presentation are in accordance with the applicable regulations.
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Directors' Responsibility for Annual Accounts
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the attached annual accounts in such a way as to
give a true and fair view of the net worth, financial position and results of the Company in accordance
with the regulatory framework for financial information applicable to the entity in Spain, and such
internal control as they deem necessary to enable the preparation of annual accounts that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
As part of the preparation of annual accounts, directors are responsible for assessing the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern, and as appropriate, should disclose matters relating to a going
concern and using the going concern basis unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance that the annual accounts as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audit report containing our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high degree of assurance, but it does not guarantee that an audit
carried out in accordance with the current regulations on account auditing in Spain will always detect
a material error when it exists. Misstatements may be due to fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
We exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit, in
accordance with the current regulations governing the activity of auditing accounts in Spain.
Additionally:
•

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtaining sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or circumvention of internal control.

•

We obtain an understanding of the internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.

•

We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•

We conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern accounting
basis, and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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We communicate with the entity's directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control
that we identify during the audit.
Among the significant risks that have been the subject of communication to the directors of the entity,
we determine those that have been of the greatest significance in the audit of the annual accounts for
the current period and that are, consequently, the risks considered to be the most significant.
We describe these risks in our audit report unless disclosure is prohibited by law or regulation.

Grant Thornton, S.L.P., Sole-Shareholder Company
Official Registry of Account Auditors no. S0231

AUDITORS
SPANISH INSTITUTE OF CHARTERED
ACCOUNTANTS

David Calzada Criado
Official Registry of Account Auditors no. 22193

GRANT THORNTON, S.L.P.
2022 No. 01/22/12708
96.00 EUR

13 May 2022
CORPORATE SEAL:

************************
Audit report on accounts subject to
Spanish or international auditing
regulations
************************
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KTESIOS REAL ESTATE SOCIMI, S.A.
BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
(In euros)
ASSETS

Notes

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets
Computer software
Investment property
Land
Structures
Construction in progress
Technical installations and other property, plant
and equipment
Non-current financial investments
Loans to third parties
Other financial assets

31/12/2021 31/12/2020
11,111,108

5

2,326
2,326
9,689,965
2,086,600
5,467,121
2,106,296
29,948

7
7.1

NET EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Notes

5,914,128 NET ASSETS
5,905,736
1,388,448
3,969,560
521,086

SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY

10

Capital
Registered capital
Issue premium
Reserves
Other reserves

26,642 Shares in own equity

31/12/2021 31/12/2020
8,724,838

4,778,930

8,724,838
8,680,010
8,680,010
974,302
(155,367)
(155367)

4,778,930
5,300,000
5,300,000
214,300
(50,967)
(50,967)

(20,873)

-

(684,403)
(68,831)

(114,794)
(569,609)

1,418,817
1,405,661
13,156

3,700 Results from previous years
- Profit for the year
3,700

Non-current trade receivables

-

4,692 NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

3,411,826

2,507,106

Trade receivables for sales and services

-

4,692 Non-current debt
Debts owed to financial institutions
Other financial liabilities

3,411,826
3,380,646
31,180

2,507,106
2,486,256
20,850

764,255

282,346

509,457
484,802
24,655
254,798
72,230
163,711
7,388
11,469

175,910
159,104
16,806
106,436
54,315
46,630
1,994
3,497

12,900,919

7,568,382

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventory
Advances to suppliers
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables for sales and services
Other receivables
Current financial investments
Other financial assets
Current accruals
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash in hand
TOTAL ASSETS

1,789,811
8

7
7
7
9

24,420
24,420
722,207
34,724
687,483
20,542
20,542
52,946
969,696
969,696
12,900,919

3

11.3
11

1,654,254 CURRENT LIABILITIES
2,947
2,947
118,015
13,682
104,333
11,320
11,320
28,245
1,493,727
1,493,727

Current debt
Debts owed to financial institutions
Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other payables
Creditor group companies and associates
Other payables to Government Institutions
Advances from customers

7,568,382 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

The accompanying Notes 1 to 15 and Appendix I are an integral part of these financial statements
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KTESIOS REAL ESTATE SOCIMI, S.A.
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(In euros)

Notes

2021

2020

12.1

514,334

267,913

514,334

267,913

(982,277)

(433,313)

(881,369)

(386,689)

Taxes

(36,311)

(21,367)

Losses, impairment and changes in trade provisions

(64,597)

(25,257)

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Net turnover
Services rendered
Other operating expenses

12.2

External services

Depreciation in real estate investment

5

(49,866)

(31,764)

12.5

524,115

(305,108)

46,306

(502,272)

Finance income

293

504

Marketable securities and other financial instruments

293

504

(75,430)

(67,841)

For debts owed to third parties

(75,430)

(67,841)

NET FINANCE RESULTS

(75,137)

(67,337)

RESULTS BEFORE INCOME TAX

(68,831)

(569,609)

-

-

(68,831)

(569,609)

Other gains/(losses)
RESULTS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Finance expenses

11.3,
12.4

Taxes on profits
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD

3

The accompanying Notes 1 to 15 and Appendix I are an integral part of these financial statements
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KTESIOS REAL ESTATE SOCIMI, S.A.
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
A) STATEMENTS OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE
(In euros)

Notes

RESULT OF THE INCOME STATEMENT
TOTAL RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE

3

31/12/2021

31/12/2020

(68,831)

(569,609)

(68,831)

(569,609)

The accompanying Notes 1 to 15 and Appendix I are an integral part of these financial statements
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KTESIOS REAL ESTATE SOCIMI, S.A.
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
B) STATEMENT OF TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY
(In euros)

Capital
FINAL BALANCE 31 DECEMBER 2019
Total recognised income and expense
Distribution of the result of the previous year
Operations with partners or owners
Incorporation (Note 10)
Capital increases (Note 10)
Transactions with own shares and equity holdings
GROSS FINAL BALANCE AT 31 December 2020
Total recognised income and expense
Distribution of the result of the previous year
Operations with partners or owners
Capital increases (Note 10)
Dividend distribution (Note 10)
Transactions with own shares and equity holdings
GROSS FINAL BALANCE AT 31 December 2021

Issue
premium

Reserves

2,200,000

(Treasury shares and
shares in own equity)

Results from
previous years

Profit for the
year/period

(11,710)

TOTAL

(114,794)

2,073,496

(114794)

(114,794)

2,200,000
150,000
2,050,000

-

(11,710)
(1,140)
(10,570)

-

-

2,188,290
148,860
2,039,430

5,300,000

214,300

(50,967)

(114,794)

(569,609)

4,778,930

3,380,010
3,380,010
-

760,002 (104,400)
760,002 (104,400)
-

(68,831)
569,609
-

(68,831)

(20,873)
(20,873)
-

(569,609)
-

4,014,739
4,014,739
-

8,680,010

974,302 (155,367)

(20,873)

(684,403)

(68,831)

8,724,838

The accompanying Notes 1 to 15 and Appendix I are an integral part of these financial statements
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KTESIOS REAL ESTATE SOCIMI, S.A.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(In euros)
Notes 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
CASH FLOWS FROM/USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (I)

(498,098)

(489,990)

Profit/(loss) for the financial year before tax

(68,831)

(569,609)

Adjustments to results:

125,418

66,417

Depreciation in real estate investment (+)

49,866

31,764

Variation in provisions (+/-)

5

64,597

25,257

Financial expenses (+)

11,248

9,900

(293)

(504)

Finance income (-)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

(543,730)

22,598

Stocks (+/-)

8

(21,473)

(2,947)

Trade and other receivables (+/-)

7

(668,789)

(29,925)

Other current assets (+/-)

7

(24,701)

(10,316)

Trade and other payables (+/-)

11

148,362

37,406

Other current liabilities (+/-)

11

7,849

1,942

Other non-current assets and liabilities (+/-)

11

15,022

26,438

Other cash flows from operating activities:

(10,955)

(9,396)

Interest payments (-)

(11,248)

(9,900)

293

504

CASH FLOWS FROM/USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (II)

(5,253,267)

(2,632,066)

Payments for investments:

(5,253,267)

(2,632,066)

Interest received (+)

Intangible assets (-)
Investment property (-)
Other assets (-)

(2,904)
5

(3,823,616)

(2,628,281)

7.1

(1,426,747)

(3,785)

5,227,334

3,728,376

4,014,739

3,275,043

4,035,612

3,275,043

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (III)
Proceeds from and payments for equity instrument:

10

Issuance of equity instruments (+)
Acquisition of own equity instruments (-)
Proceeds from and payments for financial liability instruments:

(20,873)
1,212,595

453,333

Issuance of debts with financial institutions (+)

11.3

1,372,947

543,346

Repayment and depreciation of debts with financial institutions (-)

(160352)

(90,013)

(524,031)

606,320

EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATES (IV)
NET INCREASE/DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (I+II+III+IV)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year

9

The accompanying Notes 1 to 15 and Appendix I are an integral part of these financial statements

1,493,727

887,407

969,696

1,493,727

KTESIOS REAL ESTATE SOCIMI, S.A.
Notes to the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2021
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KTESIOS REAL ESTATE SOCIMI, S.A.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021
(In euros)
1.

General Information

KTESIOS REAL ESTATE, SOCIMI, S.A. (previously named KTESIOS REAL ESTATE, S.L as explained in Note 1.f.;
hereinafter, the “Company” or “Ktesios”) was incorporated in Madrid on 21 March 2019 in accordance with the
Corporate Enterprises Act, approved by Royal Legislative Decree 1/2010 of 2 July ("the Corporate Enterprises
Act") by means of a public deed granted before Mr. Juan Aznar de la Haza, notary of Madrid. It is registered in
the Commercial Registry of Madrid in volume 38976, Folio 30, Section 8, Page M-692614, Entry 1.
On 15 July 2020, the Ordinary Universal General Meeting agreed upon: i) the transformation of the company
from a limited liability company to a public limited company, changing its corporate name to the current
“KTESIOS REAL ESTATE SOCIMI, S.A.” and ii) the consequent transformation of its shareholdings into registered
shares. These agreements were notarised by means of a deed executed before Mr. Juán Aznar de la Haza, Notary
Public of Madrid, under notarial record 2591 and registered in the Commercial Registry of Madrid on 20 August
2020 under entry 8.
Its registered office and tax address as at 31 December 2021 is located at c/ Sagasta, 15, 7º izq., 28004 Madrid,
after it was changed from c/ Gran Vía, 17A, 2ºB, 28013 Madrid at the meeting of the Board of Directors held on
15 November 2021, which was notarised by deed executed before Mr. Juan Aznar de la Haza, Notary Public of
Madrid, under notarial record 6079 and registered in the Commercial Registry of Madrid on 30 November 2021
under entry 13.
The Company's main activity is the acquisition and development of urban real estate for lease, and is governed
by Law 11/2009 of 26 October, modified by Law 16/2012 of 27 December 2012), modified by Law 11/2021 of
9 July 21, which regulates Spanish Real Estate Investment Trusts (the "REIT Law" or "Law 11/2009").
The corporate purpose of the Company in accordance with Article 2, as currently drafted in the text of the
Articles of Association as amended at the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders held on 24 November
2020, is as follows:
•

The acquisition and promotion of real estate of an urban nature for lease.

•

The holding of shares in the capital of other listed companies that invest in the real estate market
(“REITs”) or in other entities not resident in Spanish territory that have the same corporate purpose
as the former and are subject to a regime similar to that established for the REITs with regard to the
obligatory legal or statutory policy for the distribution of profits.

•

The holding of shares in the capital of other entities, (resident or not in Spanish territory, whose main
corporate purpose is the acquisition of urban real estate for lease, and which are subject to the same
regime established for the REITs with regard to the obligatory policy, legal or statutory, of distribution
of profits and which comply with the investment requirements referred to in Article 3 of the REIT Law.

•

The holding of shares or units in Real Estate Collective Investment Undertakings regulated by Law
35/2003, of 4 November, on Collective Investment Undertakings or the law that replaces it in the
future.

Together with the economic activity derived from the main corporate purpose, the Company may carry on
other ancillary activities, understood as those which, taken as a whole, represent less than 20% of the
Company's income in each tax period (including, without limitation, real estate transactions other than
those mentioned in the preceding sections or those which may be considered as ancillary in accordance
with the law applicable at any given time).
All activities for the exercise of which the law requires special requirements that cannot be met by the
Company are excluded.
The activities included in the corporate purpose may be carried out entirely or partially in an indirect
manner through participation in other companies with an identical or similar purpose.

a)

REIT system

On 25 September 2019, the General Meeting of Shareholders resolved to approve the Company's application to
the special regime for Spanish Real Estate Investment Trusts (hereinafter "REIT"), regulated by Law 11/2009.
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KTESIOS REAL ESTATE SOCIMI, S.A.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021
(In euros)
Consequently, on 26 September 2019 and, with retroactive effect as from the year commencing from its
incorporation (21/03/2019), the Company formally notified the State Tax Administration Agency (AEAT)
corresponding to its tax address (Madrid) of the option adopted by its shareholders to apply the special tax
regime for REITs.
The Company is regulated by Law 11/2009 of 26 October, amended by Law 16/2012 of 27 December, which
regulates Spanish Real Estate Investment Trusts. Articles 3 to 6 of the above-mentioned REIT Law set out the
main requirements and obligations to be met by this type of company:
Investment requirements (Art. 3)
1. The REITs must have invested at least 80 percent of the value of the assets in urban real estate intended for
renting, in land for the promotion of real estate to be used for this purpose provided that the promotion begins
within three years of its acquisition, and in shares in the capital or assets of other entities referred to in Article
2.1 of the REIT Law.
This percentage will be calculated on the consolidated balance sheet if the Company is the parent of a group of
companies in accordance with the criteria established in Article 42 of the Commerce Code, regardless of
residence and the obligation to prepare consolidated financial statements. This group shall be composed
exclusively of the REITs and the other entities referred to in Article 2(1) of the REIT Law.
The value of assets shall be determined on the basis of the average of the quarterly individual or, as the case may
be, consolidated balance sheets for the year, and the Company may choose to substitute the book value for the
market value of the items included in such balance sheets, which would be applied to all balance sheets for the
year, in order to calculate such value.
In accordance with the consultation by the Directorate General for Taxation 2014/2017, cash and other
equivalent liquid assets from capital increases and/or bank financing that are to be used within a reasonable
and justified period of time to increase and improve the portfolio of real estate assets assigned to the corporate
purpose do not affect the calculation of the percentage of the value of the assets of article 3.1 of Law 11/2009.
In view of this, the Company temporarily meets the investment requirement at 31 December 2021 since the
main part of the cash received in the latest capital increase approved on 09 December 2021 (see Note 10) is
scheduled to be used to increase and improve the portfolio of real estate assets allocated to the Company's
corporate purpose.
2. Likewise, at least 80 percent of the income for the tax period corresponding to each financial year, excluding
that derived from the transfer of the shares and the real estate both of which are used to fulfil the main corporate
purpose, once the maintenance period referred to in the following section has elapsed, must come from the
rental of real estate or from dividends or shares in profits from said shares.
This percentage will be calculated on the basis of the consolidated profit if the Company is the parent of a group
of companies in accordance with the criteria established in Article 42 of the Commercial Code, regardless of
residence and the obligation to prepare consolidated financial statements. This group shall be composed
exclusively of the REITs and the other entities referred to in Article 2(1) of the REIT Law.
3. The real estate that is part of the Company's assets must remain leased for at least three years. For the
purposes of the calculation, the time that the properties have been offered for rent will be added, with a
maximum of one year.
In this respect, the time limit will count:
a) In the case of real estate property included in the Company's assets before the date of application of the
regime, from the date of commencement of the first tax period in which the special tax regime established
in this Law is applied, provided that on that date the property was leased or offered for lease. Otherwise,
the following point shall apply.
b) In the case of real estate promoted or subsequently acquired by the Company from the date on which it
was first leased or offered for lease.
In the case of shares or holdings in entities referred to in section 1 of Article 2 of the REIT Law, they must be
kept in the Company's assets for at least three years from their acquisition or, where appropriate, from the
beginning of the first tax period in which the special tax regime established in that Law is applied.
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KTESIOS REAL ESTATE SOCIMI, S.A.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021
(In euros)

The Company has no subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021.
Obligation to trade on a regulated market or multilateral trading system (Art. 4)
The shares of the REITs must be admitted to trading on a Spanish regulated market or in a Spanish multilateral
trading system or in that of any other Member State of the European Union or the European Economic Area, or
on a regulated market in any other country or territory with which there is an effective exchange of tax
information, without interruption throughout the tax period. Shares must be registered. As explained below, all
of the Company's shares have been admitted to trading on the EURONEXT ACCESS multilateral trading system
in Lisbon since 01 June 2021.
Minimum capital required (Art. 5)
The minimum share capital is set at 5 million euros.
Obligation to distribute results (Art. 6)
Once the commercial requirements have been met, the Company must distribute the following as dividends:
•

100% of the profits from dividends or shares in profits distributed by the entities referred to in Article 2.1
of the REIT Law.

•

At least 50% of the profits derived from the transfer of real estate and shares or holdings referred to in
Article 2.1 of the of REIT Law, carried out after the minimum holding period has elapsed, in order to comply
with its main corporate purpose. The rest of these profits must be reinvested in other real estate or holdings
for the fulfilment of this purpose within three years from the date of transfer.

•

At least 80% of the rest of the profits obtained. When dividends are distributed from reserves arising from
the profits of a financial year in which the special tax regime has been applied, they must be distributed in
the manner described above.

The agreement for the distribution of dividends must be agreed upon within six months of the end of each
financial year and paid within one month of the date of the distribution agreement.
As established in the First Temporary Provision of

Law 11/2009, it is possible to opt for the application
of the special tax regime under the terms established in Article 8 of said Law, even if the
requirements established therein are not met, provided that such requirements are met within the
two years following the date of the option to apply said regime.
Failure to comply with any of the foregoing conditions will result in the Company being taxed under the general
corporate income tax regime as from the tax period in which such non-compliance occurs unless it is remedied
in the following year. In addition, the Company will be obliged to pay, together with the tax liability for that tax
period, the difference between the tax liability resulting from the application of the general system and the tax
liability resulting from the application of the special tax system in previous tax periods, without prejudice to any
interest on arrears, surcharges and penalties that may be applicable.
The tax rate of the REIT in the Corporate Tax is set at 0%. However, when the dividends that the REIT distributes
to its shareholders with a participation percentage higher than 5% are exempt or taxed at a rate lower than
10%, the REIT will be subject to a special tax of 19%, which will be considered as a tax on the amount of the
dividend distributed to those shareholders. If applicable, this special tax must be paid by the REIT within two
months from the date the dividend is distributed.
As a new feature in 2021, according to Law 11/2021, of 9 July, on measures to prevent and combat tax fraud,
which amends REIT Law 11/2009, of 26 October, for tax periods commencing on or after 1 January 2021, the
entity will be subject to a special tax of 15% on the amount of profits obtained in the year that are not subject to
distribution, in respect of the part that comes from income that has not been taxed at the general corporate tax
rate for the year and is not income subject to the reinvestment period regulated in the aforementioned Law. This
tax is treated as a corporate income tax liability.
Article 37 of the Company's Articles of Association provides for a mandatory profit distribution policy, in
compliance with the obligations of Article 6 of the REIT Law.
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Period of 2 years to comply with all the requirements of the REIT Law (First Temporary Provision )
As established in the First Temporary Provision of the REIT Law, it is possible to opt for the application of the
special tax regime under the terms established in Article 8 of said Law, even if the requirements established
therein are not met, provided that such requirements are met within the two years following the date of the
option to apply said regime.
As at 31 December 2020, the Company did not comply with all the requirements of the aforementioned law.
However, as at 31 December 2021, the Company does meet these requirements.
Discount on the Capital Transfer Tax and Documented Legal Acts (Second Final Disposition Two)
The REITs enjoy a 95 per cent rebate of the tax payable on the Capital Transfer and Documented Legal Acts Tax
for the acquisition of housing intended for renting and for the acquisition of land for the promotion of housing
intended for renting, provided that in both cases they meet the specific maintenance requirement established in
section 3.3 of Article 3 of Law 11/2009.
b)

Admission to trading on a multilateral trading facility of the Company's shares

At the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on 24 November 2020, it was resolved to apply for
admission to trading of all the Company's shares on EURONEXT ACCESS in Lisbon. 1 June 2021 was the first day
on which the Company's shares were traded on the multilateral trading facility. The reference price was set at
12.00 euros per share.
However, Ktesios carried out two capital increases at the Ordinary and Universal General Meetings held on 29
June 2021 and 9 December 2021 (see Note 10). The 338,001 new shares issued are, at the date of preparation
of these financial statements for the financial year 2021, admitted to trading on EURONEXT ACCESS in Lisbon
under the same ISIN as the previous shares. Thus, all of the Company's shares are traded on the same multilateral
trading system.
c)

Merger by absorption of two major suppliers of Ktesios with each other

The Company was notified in February 2021 of the merger between two of its key suppliers. Specifically, Return
Kapital Solutions, S.L.U., which had been providing consulting, management and financial control services (Note
1.e), has absorbed Active Rents Management, S.L.U., the provider of administration, management and marketing
services for the Company's real estate assets. (Note 1.d). The new name of the provider has also been changed
to RKS Asset Management, S.L.U. (hereinafter “RKS AM”). The resolution was adopted on 22 December 2020 by
the sole shareholder of the companies involved in the merger process. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for
accounting purposes, the transactions are carried out on behalf of the acquiring company, RKS Asset
Management, S.L.U., as from the date on which the deed of conversion of the merger resolutions into a public
deed was executed, which was 5 February 2021. The contracts, rights and duties of Active Rents Management,
S.L.U. to the Company have been succeeded by RKS Asset Management, S.L.U., which continues to provide the
services under those contracts. The terms of the contracts between the parties remain unchanged. The Board of
Directors considers that this change does not have a significant impact on the service to be received and that it
does not entail any changes to the previous situation in terms of conflicts of interest and related-party
transactions.
d)
Contract for the provision of administration, management and marketing services for real estate
assets
On 6 November 2019, the Company signed a contract with the company "Active Rents Management, S.L.U.”
(formerly called "Active Rents Management, S.L.U.”, see Note 1.c) for Property Management. The contract has a

5

KTESIOS REAL ESTATE SOCIMI, S.A.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021
(In euros)
duration of 10 years and can be automatically extended for periods of 5 years in the event that there is no
complaint from either party.
The functions of RKS AM as well as their established fees are as follows:
-

On-site Start up: it has a fixed fee according to the size of the promotion, as well as a variable component
according to the cost of adjustment of the property. In addition, it can charge fixed fees for other document
management services, such as newsletters and certificates.

-

Comprehensive Management of the Properties (Vertical Management): 8% of the amounts invoiced will be
billed as rent or similar. It is monthly and has a minimum of 1,000 euros.

-

Property Administration (Horizontal Management): for those properties with a homeowners’ association,
the expenses will be attributable to them. However, in those in which an association will not be created nor
managed, it will issue invoices at fixed prices according to quantity and type of real estate. Also, for the
representation of the property in the owners' meetings.

-

Marketing: a variable amount will be invoiced according to the characteristics of the signed contract.

e)

Contract for the provision of financial consulting, management and oversight services

On 6 November 2019, the Company signed a contract with Active Rents Management, S.L.U. (formerly called
“Return Kapital Solutions, S.L.U.”, see Note 1.c) for Asset Management. This contract was amended on 1 January
2020 to include and specify some of the services to be provided by RKS AM. The contract has a duration of 10
years and can be automatically extended for periods of 5 years in the event that there is no complaint from either
party.
RKS AM's fees for the various works to be carried out are as follows:
-

Fixed Management Fee: a quarterly fee of 0.15% of the GAV calculated as the sum of the market value
of all assets on the Company's balance sheet will accrue. The market value of each asset shall be, in order

of preference: (i) the value according to the price at which the asset is trading on a regulated market or
multilateral trading facility, e.g., in the case of listed shares or listed bonds; (ii) the latest value obtained by
an independent valuer, e.g. in the case of real estate assets, the latest valuation, whether mortgage valuation
or RICS valuation; (iii) the book value of that asset, including any depreciation and amortisation.
-

Success Fee: a fee of 2% of the share capital will be accrued at the time of admission of the shares to a
regulated market or a multilateral trading system.

-

Commission for capturing real estate assets: 2% of the total value of each purchase and sale transaction will
be accrued with a minimum of 5,000 euros. For potential transactions that do not take place for reasons not
attributable to RKS AM, 1% of the amounts paid up to that time on account of the purchase price
(reservation, deposit, etc.) agreed in the last deposit or binding reservation document signed by Ktesios
shall be due, with a maximum of 20,000 euros and a minimum of 3,000 euros.

-

Variable management fee: 10% of the pre-tax profit of the Company will accrue annually in the event that
it is positive.

-

Accounting Services Commission: a monthly fee of 2,500 euros shall be accrued.

-

Fundraising Fee: 3% of the total amount disbursed by investors from RKS AM will accrue.

f)

Corporate transformation

The Company started the 2020 financial year as limited liability company. As part of its plan to achieve its
objectives, in particular compliance with all the requirements of the REIT Act, one of the actions successfully
carried out during the 2020 financial year was the transformation of the Company into a public limited company.
On 24 June 2020, a favourable report was obtained from the independent expert appointed by the Madrid
Commercial Registry regarding the value of the Company. Subsequently, on 15 July 2020, the General Meeting
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approved, among other items, the transformation of the Company from a limited liability company to a public
limited company, at which time it adopted its current name: KTESIOS REAL ESTATE SOCIMI, S.A. Shortly
afterwards, on 22 July 2020, this agreement was notarised under notarial record 2,591 of Mr. Juan Aznar de la
Haza, Notary Public of the Association of Notaries of Madrid. Finally, the conversion, together with other
resolutions, was registered in the Madrid Commercial Registry on 20 August 2020.
g)

Modification of the governing body

The Company started the 2020 financial year with RKS AM as Sole Director. One of the actions carried out during
the year 2020 was the modification of the Company's governing body to a Board of Directors.
On 24 November 2020, the General Meeting of Shareholders approved, inter alia, the change of the Company's
governing body from Sole Director to Board of Directors, following the resignation of the hitherto Sole Director.
Shortly afterwards, on 30 November 2020, this agreement was notarised under notarial record 4,466 of Mr. Juan
Aznar de la Haza, Notary Public of the Association of Notaries of Madrid Finally, the modification of the governing
body, together with other resolutions, was registered in the Madrid Commercial Registry on 16 December 2020.
The appointed Board of Directors consists of Mr. Henry Noel Gallego Grajales, Mr. Bernhard Schmidt and Mr.
Gonzalo Vicente Roca Pérez. All of them expressly accepted the position at the General Meeting of 24 November
2020. In addition, at the first meeting of the Board of Directors, on 24 November 2020, it was approved to
appoint Mr. Henry Noel Gallego Grajales as Chairman of the Board of Directors, Mr. Íñigo de Loyola Sánchez del
Campo Basagoiti as Secretary (non-director), Ms. María García Aguado as Vice-Secretary (non-director) and Mr.
Henry Noel Gallego Grajales as Managing Director.
2.

Basis of presentation of the financial statements

a)

Applicable financial reporting policy framework

These financial statements have been prepared by the Company Board of Directors in accordance with the
financial reporting framework applicable to the Company, which is that set out in:
-

The Commerce Code and other company legislation.

-

The General Accounting Plan approved by Royal Decree 1514/2007, applicable amendments introduced by
Royal Decree 1159/2010, Royal Decree 602/2016, Royal Decree 1/2021 and the sectoral adaptation for
real estate companies.

-

The mandatory rules approved by the Accounting and Auditing Institute in development of the General
Accounting Plan and its additional rules.

-

Law 11/2009, of 26 October, amended by Law 16/2012, of 27 December, regulating Spanish Real Estate
Investment Trusts (REIT) and the reporting obligations to be listed in these financial statements.

-

All other applicable Spanish accounting legislation.

The Company has carried out an analysis of the changes introduced in the Spanish General Accounting Plan by
the amendments of 12 January 2021 published in Royal Decree 1/2021 and their impact on these financial
statements for the financial year 2021. Due to the business and the activity carried out by the Company, no
significant impacts have been detected, except for the information to be included in the of these notes to the
financial statements, which have been adapted to the content required by the new regulations.
Although the Company complies with the requirements to prepare abridged financial statements in accordance
with articles 257, 258 and 261 of the Corporate Enterprises Act, these have been prepared in full at the discretion
of the Company's management.
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, prepared by the Company Board of Directors at
its meeting held on 31 March 2021, were approved by the Ordinary and Universal General Meeting of
Shareholders held on 29 June 2021 and have been filed with the Commercial Registry of Madrid.
b)

True and fair view
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The annual financial statements have been prepared from the Company's accounting records and are presented
in accordance with current companies’ legislation and with the standards established in the General Accounting
Plan approved by Royal Decree 1514/2007 and the amendments incorporated therein by Royal Decree
1159/2010, Royal Decree 602/2016 and Royal Decree 1/2021, in order to show a true and fair view of the
Company's net worth, financial position and results, as well as the veracity of the cash flows included in the cash
flow statement.
c)

Non-mandatory accounting principles

The accounting principles and valuation rules described in Note 4 were applied in the preparation of these
financial statements. All mandatory legal provision or accounting principle whose effect on the preparation of
the financial statements is significant have been applied.
d)

Critical issues regarding the measurement and estimation of uncertainties

In preparing the accompanying financial statements, estimates were made by the Company's directors in order
to measure certain of the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and obligations reported herein. Essentially, these
estimates refer to:
-

The assessment of the existence of impairment in investment property (see Notes 4.2 and 5).

-

The useful life of investment property (see Note 4.1).

-

The fair value of investment property: the best evidence of the fair value of investment property in an active
market is the prices of similar assets. In the absence of such information, the Company determines fair value
using a range of fair values. In making such a judgement the Company uses a number of sources including:
o
o
o
o

Current prices in an active market for properties of a different nature, condition or location,
adjusted to reflect differences from assets owned by the Company.
Recent property prices in other less active markets, adjusted to reflect changes in economic
conditions since the transaction date.
Cash flow discounts based on estimates derived from current and projected lease terms and, if
possible, evidence of market prices of similar properties in the same location, using discount rates
that reflect the uncertainty of the time factor.
RICS valuations of the properties carried out by Gesvalt Sociedad de Tasación, S.A.

-

Corporate tax: the Company has opted to apply the REIT tax regime, which means that the tax rate for
corporate income tax is 0% provided that the requirements established in the REIT Law are met (see Note
1). The governing body monitors compliance with the legal requirements for taking advantage of the tax
benefits provided. The Board of Directors of the Company considers that these requirements are met as at
31 December 2021, at the date of preparation of these financial statements, and will be met within 12
months after the end of the financial year.

-

The calculation of variable remuneration for Asset Management services (see Note 1.e) and other
providers that also have a similar form of remuneration.

Although these estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at 31 December 2021, future
events may make it necessary to modify them (upwards or downwards) in coming years, which would be done
prospectively if appropriate, recognising the effects of the change in estimates in accordance with current
accounting regulations.
e)

Comparative information

As per commercial legislation, for comparative purposes, in addition to the figures for 2021, the figures for the
previous year are presented for each of the items on the balance sheet, the income statement, the statement of
changes in equity and the cash flow statement. Quantitative information for the previous financial year is also
included in the notes to the financial statements, except where an accounting standard specifically states that
this is not required.
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Royal Decree 1/2021, of 12 January, has amended the Spanish General Accounting Plan approved by Royal
Decree 1514/2007, of 16 November 2007, with regard to financial instruments and revenues from sales and
services. The Second and Third Transitional Provisions of the Royal Decree establish the transitional recording
and valuation rules, to be applied on the date of first application, for financial instruments, and the Fifth
Transitional Provision establishes the transitional recording and valuation rules for income from sales and
services rendered. These provisions, as an exception to the general criterion established by 22nd Recording and
Valuation Rules on changes in accounting policies, errors and accounting estimates, allow the comparative
figures presented in these financial statements not to be restated. Therefore, for the purposes of comparability
of figures, the impact of the first-time application of these amendments, which are detailed in Note 2.i., must be
taken into account.
f)

Aggregation of items

Certain items in the balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement
are presented together for ease of understanding, although, to the extent material, the information has been
disclosed in the related notes to the financial statements.
g)

Changes in accounting policies

During the financial year 2021 there were no significant changes in accounting policies compared to the policies
applied in the financial year 2020.
h)

Environmental impact

In view of the business activity carried on by the Company, it has no environmental liability, expenses, assets,
provisions or contingencies that might be material with respect to its equity, financial position and results.
For this reason, no information relating to this matter is disclosed in these financial statements.

i)

Transition

The approval of Royal Decree 1/2021 of 12 January 2007 modified the General Accounting Plan approved by
Royal Decree 1514/2007 of 16 November 2007, and with it, the accounting treatment of various components of
the financial statements. In compliance with the provisions of the First Transitional Provision of the
aforementioned Royal Decree, we include the following information on transition:
Financial Instruments
The amendments introduced by Royal Decree 1/2021, of 12 January, come into force for all financial years
beginning on or after 1 January 2021, including the new 9th Recording and Valuation Rules on financial
instruments. The Second Transitional Provision of the aforementioned regulation establishes the rules on the
date of first application of the regulation, essentially allowing for two transition models:
-

Full retrospective, which involves the restatement of the comparative figures in accordance with the
provisions of the new 22nd Recording and Valuation Rules, "Changes in accounting policies, accounting
errors and estimates” of the General Accounting Plan, with a series of practical exemptions that simplify the
adaptation of the comparative figures to the new 9th Recording and Valuation Rules of the General
Accounting Plan.

-

Simplified retrospective, which involves the introduction of an adjustment to the opening balances of the
year in which the standard begins to be applied, without the need to restate comparative figures, benefiting
from a series of practical simplifications that help to apply the standard at the date of adoption.

The Company has chosen to apply the simplified retrospective transition model.
Financial assets
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The following is a reconciliation between the classification and valuation of financial assets at 1 January 2021
under the old financial instruments 9th Recording and Valuation Rules of the General Accounting Plan and the
classification and valuation of the same financial assets under the new financial instruments standard:
Non-current financial assets

31/12/2020

Transition
adjustment
(no impact on
Equity)

8,392

(8,392)

8,392

Former categories
9th Recording and
Valuation Rules
General Accounting
Plan:
Loans and
receivables
New categories 9th
Recording and
Valuation Rules
General Accounting
Plan:
Financial assets at
amortised cost

Current financial assets

Transition
adjustment
(with impact
on Equity)

01/01/2021

31/12/2020

Transition
adjustment
(no impact on
Equity)

Transition
adjustment
(with impact
on Equity)

-

-

129,335

(129,335)

-

-

8,392

-

8,392

-

(129,335)

-

129,335

-

-

8,392

129,335

-

-

129,335

01/01/2021

The Company has classified as financial assets at amortised cost all financial assets that accrue cash flows in the
form of principal and interest and for which, at the transition date, the Company had a business model in place
to manage the collection of these cash flows. In this category, the Company has classified all the financial assets
that were previously classified as loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments.
The Company has applied the business model it applied to financial assets at the date of first-time application of
the standard, for the purpose of classifying them in accordance with the new categories established by the new
9th Recording and Valuation Rules General Accounting Plan.

Financial liabilities
The following is a reconciliation between the classification and measurement of financial liabilities at 1 January
2021 recorded under the old 9th Recording and Valuation Rules on financial instruments of the General
Accounting Plan and the classification and measurement of the same financial liabilities recorded under the new
financial instruments standard:
Non-current financial liabilities

31/12/2020

Transition
adjustment
(no impact on
Equity)

2,507,106

(2,507,106)

2,507,106

Transition
adjustment
(with impact
on Equity)

Current financial liabilities

01/01/2021

31/12/2020

Transition
adjustment
(no impact on
Equity)

Transition
adjustment
(with impact
on Equity)

-

-

280,352

(280,352)

-

-

2,507,106

-

2,507,106

-

280,352

-

280,352

-

-

2,507,106

280,352

-

-

280,352

01/01/2021

Former categories
9th Recording and
Valuation Rules
General Accounting
Plan:
Debits and
payables
New categories 9th
Recording and
Valuation Rules
General Accounting
Plan:
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
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Revenue from sales and the rendering of services
The amendments introduced by Royal Decree 1/2021 of 12 January come into force for all years beginning on
or after 1 January 2021, including the new 14th Recording and Valuation Rules "revenue from sales and
services". The Second Transitional Provision of the aforementioned regulation establishes the rules on the date
of first application of the regulation, essentially allowing for two transition models:
-

Full retrospective, which involves the restatement of the comparative figures in accordance with the
provisions of the new 22nd Recording and Valuation Rules “Changes in accounting policies, errors and
accounting estimates” of the General Accounting Plan, with a series of practical exemptions that simplify
the adaptation of the comparative figures to the new 14th Recording and Valuation Rules of the General
Accounting Plan.

-

Simplified retrospective, which involves the introduction of an adjustment to the opening balances of the
year in which the standard begins to be applied, without the need to restate comparative figures, benefiting
from a series of practical simplifications that help to apply the standard at the date of adoption.

-

Practical solution: as from the date of first adoption, only contracts with customers signed after the date of
first adoption will be subject to the criteria set out in the new 14th Recording and Valuation Rules "Revenue
from sales and services".

The Company has opted to apply the practical solution by applying the new criteria to all contracts signed as
from 1 January 2021, although it does not have any significant impact on the criteria applied in previous years
in view of the Company's activity.
3.

Distribution of profit/application of losses

The proposed distribution of profit for the year 2021, formulated by the Board of Directors and expected to be
approved by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, is as follows:

Distribution of profit/application of losses:
Results for the year (losses)
Distribution:
Prior periods’ losses

2021

2020

(68,831)

(569,609)

(68,831)

(569,609)

On 29 June 2021, the General Meeting of Shareholders approved the distribution of the result of the financial
year 2020 of 569,609 euros of loss to negative results of previous years.
4.

Recognition and measurement standards

4.1

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at acquisition or production cost, as appropriate, net of accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses.
An intangible asset is recognised only if it is probable that it will generate future benefits to the Company and
its cost can be measured reliably and is identifiable.
Amortisation of intangible assets is determined according to the following criteria, always based on the expected
years of use or recovery:
a.- Computer software is stated at acquisition cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of three years.
4.2

Investment property

11

KTESIOS REAL ESTATE SOCIMI, S.A.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021
(In euros)
The balance sheet heading "Investment Property" includes the value of land, buildings and other structures held
either to earn rentals or for capital appreciation on their sale as a result of future increases in their respective
market prices.
Initial assessment
Investment property is initially measured at acquisition cost, to which is added the amount of any additional or
complementary investments made, and subsequently reduced by the related accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, in accordance with the criteria described in this Note.
Repairs that do not represent an extension of the useful life and maintenance costs are charged to the profit and
loss account in the year in which they occur. The costs of expansion or improvement leading to an increase in
production capacity or a lengthening of the useful life of the assets are included in the assets as an increase in
their value.
The investment property was valued at the date of contribution at its fair value and the extension, modernisation
and improvement costs of property, plant and equipment are added to the asset under this heading as an
increase in the value of the asset only when they result in an increase in its capacity, productivity or useful life,
and whenever it is possible to know or estimate the carrying amount of the items derecognised because they
have been replaced.
The investment property heading includes technical installations and furniture used for the Company's main
corporate purpose, i.e., the operation by means of operating leases.
The Company has not capitalised financial interest as an increase in the cost of its investment property during
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
Depreciation
Depreciation of investment property is calculated on a straight-line basis over the years of estimated useful life
of the assets. The annual depreciation rates applied to the respective cost values, where applicable, and the
estimated years of useful life are as follows:
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4.3

Annual
Percentage

Estimated
Years of
Useful Life

Linear depreciation system:
Structures

1.00%

100

Furnishing(s) (type)
Washing machines
Dishwashers
Radiators
Refrigerators

10.00%
9.09%
5.00%
8.33%

10
11
20
12

Decrease in value of investment property

Whenever there is evidence of impairment of investment property, the Company estimates, using the
impairment test, the possible existence of losses that reduce the recoverable amount of these assets to an
amount lower than their carrying amount.
The recoverable amount is determined as the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
In order to determine the market value of its investment property, the Company has used valuations carried out
on the properties by different independent valuers for different purposes: valuation for mortgage purposes,
valuation of the Company in order to comply with the requirements of the Commercial Registry for the
transformation of the Company from a limited liability company to a public limited company and also valuation
of the Company in order to comply with the requirements for participation in a multilateral trading system for
the Company's shares. These valuations have been carried out in accordance with Order ECO/805/2003 of 27
March, on valuation standards for real estate and certain rights for certain financial purposes, Order
EHA/3011/2007 and Order EHA/564/2008, for mortgage purposes; and with the valuation standards issued
by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) of the United Kingdom and the International Valuation
Standards (IVS) formulated by the International Valuation Standards Committee (IVSC), for the valuation of the
company for the purposes of admission to trading of the Company's shares in a multilateral trading system, as
described in Note 1.b.
Valuation adjustments for impairment and their reversal are recorded in the income statement and reversed
when the circumstances that gave rise to them cease to exist. The reversal of the impairment is limited to the
carrying amount of the asset that would appear in the balance sheet if the corresponding impairment had not
been previously recognised.
In the opinion of the Company's Board of Directors and based on available independent expert valuations, no
indications of impairment of the investment property at 31 December 2021 and 2020 have become apparent
and therefore no impairment has been recognised.
4.4

Leases

Financial leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever it is clear from the terms of the lease that substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the asset covered by the lease are transferred to the lessee. At 31
December 2021 and 2020 the Company has no finance leases.
All other leases are classified as operating leases.
Operating lease:
If the Company acts as lessor, income and expenses arising from operating lease agreements are charged to the
income statement in the year in which they accrue. Also, the acquisition cost of the leased asset is presented in
the balance sheet in accordance with its nature, increased by the amount of the directly attributable contract
costs, which are recognised as an expense over the term of the contract using the same method as that used to
recognise the lease income.
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Any collection or payment that may be made under an operating lease shall be treated as a collection or
prepayment to be charged to income over the lease term as the proceeds of the leased asset are transferred or
received on a straight-line basis.
4.5

Financial assets

The Company classifies its financial assets according to the business model applied to them and the cash flow
characteristics of the instrument.
The business model is determined by the directors of the Company and RKS AM - pursuant to the contract for
the provision of financial advisory, management and control services, see Note 1.e- and reflects the way in which
each group jointly manages financial assets to achieve a specific business objective. The business model that the
Company applies to each group of financial assets is the way in which the Company manages these assets in
order to obtain cash flows.
In categorising assets, the Company also takes into account the characteristics of the cash flows that accrue from
them. In particular, it distinguishes between those financial assets whose contractual terms give rise, on
specified dates, to cash flows that are collections of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
(hereinafter, assets that meet the SPPI test, i.e., solely payments of principal and interest) and other financial
assets (hereinafter, assets that do not meet the SPPI test.
Specifically, financial assets belonging to the Company have been classified into the following categories:
a)

Financial assets at amortised cost

These correspond to financial assets to which the Company applies a business model whose objective is to
receive the cash flows arising from the performance of the contract, and the contractual terms of the financial
asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely collections of principal and interest, the financial
assets are assets that meet the SPPI test (financial assets whose contractual terms give rise, at specified dates,
to cash flows that are payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding).
The Company considers the contractual cash flows of a financial asset to be only principal and interest payments
on the principal amount outstanding, when these are those of an ordinary or common loan, regardless of
whether the transaction is agreed at a zero or below-market interest rate. The Company considers that financial
assets convertible into equity instruments of the issuer, loans with inverse floating interest rates (i.e., a rate that
has an inverse relationship with market interest rates); or those where the issuer can defer interest payments
if such payment would affect its creditworthiness, without the deferred interest accruing additional interest, do
not meet this criterion and therefore do not fall into this category.
In assessing whether it is applying the contractual cash flow collection business model to a group of financial
assets, or whether it is applying another business model, the Company takes into consideration the timing,
frequency and value of sales that are occurring and have occurred in the past within this group of financial assets.
Sales in themselves do not determine the business model and therefore cannot be considered in isolation.
Therefore, the existence of one-off sales within the same group of financial assets does not determine the change
of business model for the rest of the financial assets included in that group. In assessing whether such sales
constitute a change in the business model, the Company takes into account existing information on past sales
and expected future sales for the same group of financial assets. The Company also takes into account the
conditions that existed at the time of past sales and current conditions when assessing the business model, it is
applying to a group of financial assets.
In general, this category includes trade and non-trade receivables:
-

Trade receivables: Those financial assets that arise from the sale of goods and the provision of services for
the company's business operations for deferred payment.

-

Non-trade receivables: Those financial assets which, not being equity instruments or derivatives, do not
have a commercial origin and whose collections are of a determined or determinable amount, deriving from
loan or credit operations granted by the Company.

They are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration given plus directly attributable transaction
costs.
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Notwithstanding the above, trade receivables maturing within one year and which do not have a contractual
interest rate are initially measured at their nominal value, provided that the effect of not discounting cash flows
is not material, in which case they will continue to be measured subsequently at that amount, unless they are
impaired.
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost. Accrued interest is recognised in the
profit and loss account
At year-end, the Company makes the appropriate impairment adjustments whenever there is objective evidence
that a financial asset, or a group of financial assets with similar risk characteristics measured collectively, has
become impaired as a result of one or more events occurring after initial recognition that lead to a reduction or
delay in the collection of estimated future cash flows, which may be caused by the insolvency of the debtor.
Impairment losses are recognised on the basis of the difference between their carrying amount and the present
value at year-end of the estimated future cash flows to be generated (including those from the realisation of
collateral and/or personal guarantees), discounted at the effective interest rate calculated at the time of initial
recognition. For floating rate financial assets, the Company uses the effective interest rate that, according to the
contractual terms of the instrument, is applicable at year-end. These corrections are recognised in the profit and
loss account.
Derecognition of financial assets
Financial assets are removed from the balance sheet, as established in the Conceptual Accounting Framework
of the General Accounting Plan, approved by Royal Decree 1514/2007, of 16 November, based on the economic
reality of the transactions and not only on the legal form of the contracts that regulate them. Specifically, a
financial asset is derecognised when all or part of the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire or are transferred, provided that substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset are transferred. The Company considers that the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset have
been substantially transferred when its exposure to changes in cash flows is no longer material in relation to the
total change in the present value of the future net cash flows associated with the financial asset.
If the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the financial asset,
the financial asset is derecognised when control is not retained. If the Company retains control of the asset, it
continues to recognise it at the amount to which it is exposed for changes in the value of the transferred asset,
i.e., for its continuing involvement, recognising the associated liability.
The difference between the consideration received net of attributable transaction costs, considering any new
asset obtained less any liability assumed, and the carrying amount of the financial asset transferred, plus any
cumulative amount recognised directly in equity, determines the gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
financial asset and forms part of the profit or loss for the period in which it arises.
The Company does not derecognise financial assets in disposals in which it retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership, such as bill discounting, factoring with recourse, sales of financial assets under
repurchase agreements at a fixed price or at the sale price plus interest and securitisations of financial assets in
which the Company retains subordinated financing or other types of guarantees that absorb substantially all the
expected losses. In such cases, the Company recognises a financial liability for an amount equal to the
consideration received.
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4.6

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank accounts and deposits with credit institutions and highly
liquid investments, including short-term, highly liquid deposits, which are easily convertible into determined
amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. In addition, the Company includes under
this heading pledged amounts linked to financing in the amount of EUR 62,700 (no amounts pledged at 31
December 2020).
4.7

Net Assets

The share capital is represented by ordinary registered shares, all of which are admitted to trading on the
Euronext Access Lisbon multilateral trading system.
The costs of issuing new shares or options are shown directly against equity as a reduction in reserves. 99,988
euros paid for fund-raising commissions have been recorded as a reduction in reserves.
In the case of the acquisition of the Company's own shares, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is deducted from equity until cancellation, reissue or disposal. When these shares
are subsequently sold or reissued, any amount received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction
costs, is included in equity.
4.8

Financial liabilities

A financial liability is recognised in the balance sheet when the Company becomes an obligor to the contract or
legal transaction in accordance with the provisions of the contract or legal transaction. Specifically, financial
instruments issued are classified, in whole or in part, as a financial liability, provided that, based on the economic
substance of the instrument, it involves a direct or indirect contractual obligation for the Company to deliver
cash or another financial asset or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with third parties on
unfavourable terms.
Also classified as a financial liability is any contract that can be settled with the company's own equity
instruments, provided that:
-

Is not a derivative and obliges or may oblige to deliver a variable amount of its own equity instruments.

-

If it is a derivative with an unfavourable position for the Company that can be settled other than by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed amount of the Company's own
equity instruments; for this purpose, own equity instruments do not include those that are themselves
contracts for the future receipt or delivery of the Company's own equity instruments.

Contributions made as a result of a joint venture and similar contracts are measured at cost, increased or
decreased by the profit or loss, respectively, accruing to the company as a non-managing venturer, less any
accumulated impairment losses. In this case, when the entire cost of the joint venture account is impaired, the
additional losses generated by the joint venture are classified as a liability.
Participating loans which bear interest on a contingent basis, either because a fixed or variable rate of interest
is agreed and conditional on the achievement of a milestone in the borrower company (e.g., profit) or because
they are calculated solely by reference to the performance of the borrower company's business, are recorded in
the same way. Accrued interest expense on the participating loan is recognised in the profit and loss account on
an accrual basis and transaction costs are taken to the profit and loss account on a financial basis or, if not
applicable, on a straight-line basis over the life of the participating loan.
Where the Company does not transfer the risks and rewards inherent in a financial asset, it recognises a financial
liability for an amount equal to the consideration received.
The categories of financial liabilities, among which the Company classifies them, are as follows:
a)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

In general, the Company classifies the following financial liabilities in this category:
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-

Trade payables: are financial liabilities arising from the purchase of goods and services for trade
transactions with deferred payment, and

-

Non-trade payables: these are financial liabilities which, not being derivative financial instruments, do not
have a commercial origin, but arise from loan or credit transactions received by the Company.

Participating loans that have the characteristics of ordinary or common loans are also classified in this category.
In addition, financial liabilities that do not meet the criteria for classification as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are classified in this category.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured at the fair value of the consideration received,
adjusted for directly attributable transaction costs.
Notwithstanding the above, trade payables maturing within one year and not bearing a contractual interest rate,
as well as disbursements required by third parties on participations, the amount of which is expected to be paid
in the short term, are initially measured at their nominal value, provided that the effect of not discounting cash
flows is not significant.
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate. Those which, in accordance
with the previous paragraph, are initially valued at their nominal value, continue to be valued at that amount.
Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Company derecognises a financial liability when the obligation has been extinguished. The Company also
derecognises own financial liabilities that it acquires (even if with the intention of selling them in the future).
When debt instruments are exchanged with a lender on substantially different terms, the original financial
liability is derecognised and the new financial liability that arises is recognised. Similarly, a substantial change
in the current terms of a financial liability is recorded.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability, or part of it that has been derecognised,
and the consideration paid, including attributable transaction costs, including any asset transferred other than
cash or liability assumed, is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
When there is an exchange of debt instruments that do not have substantially different terms, the original
financial liability is not derecognised, and the amount of fees paid is recorded as an adjustment to its carrying
amount. The new amortised cost of the financial liability is determined by applying the effective interest rate,
which is the rate that matches the carrying amount of the financial liability at the modification date with the
cash flows payable under the new terms.
For these purposes, the terms of the contracts are deemed to be materially different when the lender is the same
as the original lender and the present value of the cash flows of the new financial liability, including net fees,
differs by at least 10% from the present value of the outstanding cash flows of the original financial liability,
discounted at the effective interest rate of the original liability. In addition, in cases where the difference is less
than 10%, the Company also considers that the terms of the new financial instrument are substantially different
when there are other substantial qualitative changes in the instrument, such as: a change from fixed to floating
interest rates or vice versa, the restatement of the liability in a different currency, an ordinary loan becoming a
participating loan, etc.
4.9

Current and deferred taxes

General regime
The income tax expense or income comprises both current and deferred tax. Both the current and deferred tax
expense or income is recorded in the income statement. However, the tax effect related to items that are
recorded directly in equity is recognised in equity.
The current tax expense is calculated on the basis of the laws passed or about to be passed at the balance sheet
date in the countries in which the Company operates and in which they generate taxable profits. The governing
body periodically evaluates the positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which the applicable
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tax regulations are subject to interpretation, and, if necessary, establishes provisions based on the amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
Deferred taxes are recognised for temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred taxes are not accounted for if they
arise from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction, other than a business combination, that,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that are approved or about to be approved at the balance sheet date and
which are expected to apply when the corresponding deferred tax asset is realised, or the deferred tax liability
is settled.
Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except for those deferred tax liabilities for which the Company can
control the date on which the temporary differences reverse, and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the near future. Generally, the Company is not able to control the reversal of temporary
differences for associates. Only when there is an agreement that gives the Company the ability to control the
reversal of the temporary difference is it not recognized.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and sufficient taxable profit is expected to be available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if, and only if, there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities arise
from income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the same or different taxable entities or subjects
that intend to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
At each accounting close, the deferred tax assets recorded are reviewed and the appropriate corrections are
made to the extent that there are doubts as to their future recovery. Also, at each close, deferred tax assets not
recorded in the statement of financial position are assessed and recognized to the extent that their recovery
with future tax benefits becomes probable.
REIT tax regime:
On 26 September 2019, the Company notified the relevant tax authorities (the State Tax Administration Agency)
the decision adopted on 25 September 2019 by the Company’s General Meeting of Shareholders to apply the
special tax regime for REITs (Note 1.a). The application had retroactive effect from the tax year commencing on
the date of incorporation, 21 March 2019, being subject to Law 11/2009, of 26 October, as amended by Law
16/2012, of 27 December, , and Law 11/2021, of 9 July, which regulates REITs.
In accordance with the REITs tax regime, the Company is subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 0%
provided that the requirements described in Note 1.a to these financial statements are met.
Non-compliance with the minimum holding period requirement for qualifying assets set out in Note 1.a above
will determine: (i) in the case of qualifying properties, the taxation of all the income generated by them in all the
tax periods in which the special REIT tax regime would have been applicable, in accordance with the general
regime and the general rate of corporation tax; and (ii) in the case of qualifying holdings, the taxation of that
part of the income generated on the occasion of the transfer in accordance with the general regime and the
general rate of corporation tax.
As established in Article 9.2 of Law 11/2009, the Company will be subject to a special tax of 19% on the full
amount of the dividends or shares in profits distributed to shareholders whose share in the capital of the
Company is equal to or greater than 5%, when said dividends, at the headquarters of its shareholders, are
exempt or taxed at a rate of less than 10% (for this purpose, the tax due under the Non-Resident Income Tax
Law would be taken into consideration).
However, this special tax does not apply when dividends or profit shares are received by entities whose purpose
is to hold shares in the capital of other REITs or in the capital of other entities not resident in Spanish territory
that have the same corporate purpose as the former and that are subject to a regime similar to that established
for the REITs with regard to the mandatory policy, the Company's legal or statutory profit distribution policy
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applies to shareholders who hold 5% or more of the share capital of the Company and pay tax on such dividends
or shares in profits at least at the tax rate of 10%.
As indicated in Note 1, according to Law 11/2021 of 9 July on measures to prevent and combat tax fraud, which
amends REIT Law 11/2009 of 26 October, for tax periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, the entity will
be subject to a special tax of 15% on the amount of profits obtained in the year that are not subject to
distribution.
Other taxes:
Since the Company is mainly engaged in the rental of residential housing to private individuals, input VAT cannot
generally be deducted. The Company applies a general pro rata.
In addition, the REITs benefit from the application of a 95% rebate on the tax liability for Capital Transfer and
Documented Legal Acts Tax as discussed in Note 1.a, provided that the minimum period for holding assets is
complied with.
4.10

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the obligation. Adjustments to the provision as a result of its updating are recognised as a financial expense
as they accrue.
Provisions maturing in one year or less with a non-significant financial effect are not discounted. When part of
the disbursement required to settle the provision is expected to be reimbursed by a third party, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, provided that its receipt is virtually certain.
Provisions for taxes correspond to the estimated amount of possible tax obligations to the tax authorities.
4.11

Revenue recognition

The Company's main revenues are derived from the various operating lease agreements.
Rental income
Rental income is recorded on an accrual basis, with the incentive benefits and the initial costs of the lease
contracts being distributed on a straight-line basis. In the event that a lease contract is terminated earlier than
expected, the registration of the outstanding rent deficiency or bonus will be recorded in the last period before
the end of the contract.
The costs related to each lease instalment, including impairment write-offs, are recognised as an expense. The
properties leased to third parties, all of which are under operating leases, are included under "Investment
property" in the balance sheet.
In determining whether revenue should be recognised, the Company follows a five-step process:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

identification of the contract with a customer
identification of performance obligations
determination of the transaction price
allocation of the transaction price to performance obligations
revenue recognition when performance obligations are met.

4.12

Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in euros, which is the Company's presentation and functional currency.
4.13

Cash Flow Statement
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The cash flow statement has been prepared using the indirect method and the following expressions are used
with the meanings given below:
-

Operating activities: activities that constitute the ordinary income of the company, as well as other activities
that cannot be classified as investment or financing activities.

-

Investing activities: activities of acquisition, disposal of non-current assets and other investments not
included in cash and cash equivalents.

-

Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of equity and liabilities that
are not part of operating activities.

4.14

Transactions between related parties

In general, operations between related parties are initially recorded are initially recorded at fair value. In this
case, f the agreed price differs from its fair value, the difference is recorded on the basis of the economic reality
of the transaction. The subsequent valuation is carried out in accordance with the relevant rules.
5.

Investment property

The changes in "Investment Property” in the year ended 31 December 2021 were as follows:
Amount in Euros
Balance at
31
December
2020
Cost:
Furnishings
Land
Structures
Construction in progress
Total cost
Accumulated depreciation
Furnishings
Structures
Total accumulated depreciation
Net investment property

Additions

Balance at
31
December
2021

Transfers

28,254
1,388,448
4,006,210
521,086
5,943,998

6,642
698,152
1,022,426
2,106,296
3,833,516

521,086
-521,086
-

34,896
2,086,600
5,549,722
2,106,296
9,777,514

-1,612
-36,650
-38,262
5,905,736

-3,336
-45,951
-49,287
3,784,299

-

-4,948
-82,601
-87,549
9,689,965

Transactions in the year ended 31 December 2020 was as follows:
Amount in Euros
Balance at
31/12/2019
Cost:
Furnishings
Land
Structures
Construction in progress
Total cost
Accumulated depreciation
Furnishings
Structures
Total accumulated depreciation
Net investment property

Additions

Balance at
31/12/2020

Transfers

3,754
811,659
2,235,109
265,195
3,315,717

24,500
576,789
1,505,906
521,086
2,628,281

265,195
-265,195
-

28,254
1,388,448
4,006,210
521,086
5,943,998

-67
-6,431
-6,498
3,309,219

-1,545
-30,219
-31,764
2,596,517

-

-1,612
-36,650
-38,262
5,905,736

During the 2019 financial year, the Company completed the acquisition of three lots of residential properties
with 83 dwellings, 1 office, 22 garages and 3 storerooms; among 9 buildings or groups of homes in the towns of
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Cazalegas, Rielves, Tembleque, Villaseca de la Sagra and Fuensalida in the province of Toledo, and in Tomelloso,
Malagón and Miguelturra in the province of Ciudad Real. The total price of the operations was 3,350,373 euros.
During the financial year 2020, the Company completed the acquisition of three lots of residential properties
with 65 dwellings, 25 garages, 15 storerooms and an undivided 87.5% interest in a premises (basement) for
parking spaces and storage rooms where Ktesios has allocated 27 garages and 2 storerooms; between 4
buildings in the towns of Santa Olalla and Mejorada in the province of Toledo, Herencia in the province of Ciudad
Real, and in Algeciras in the province of Cádiz. The total price of the operations was 2,608,112 euros, of which
42,845 euros were added during 2021.
During the year 2021, the Company completed the following transactions:
-

On 5 March 2021, the Company formalised the purchase of a building of 15 dwellings in the town of
Alcantarilla, in the province of Murcia. The total price of the transaction was made up of a purchase price of
340,000 euros. In addition, an amount of 14,621 euros of transaction costs and 385,250 euros of adaptation
costs have been capitalised. The properties were appraised in the previous weeks in accordance with Order
ECO/805/2003 of 27 March 2003 on rules for the valuation of real estate and certain rights for certain
financial purposes (hereinafter "ECO appraisal"), coming to a value of EUR 452,363 (prior to the
adjustment).

-

On 27 October 2021, the Company formalised the purchase of 18 homes in 3 buildings in the towns of
Caudete, in the province of Albacete, and in Teulada and Catral, in the province of Alicante. The total price
of the operation was 843,800 euros for purchase, 35,802 euros in transaction costs and 40,180 euros for
adjustment. The properties were valued at 31 December 2021 according to RICS valuation criteria, reaching
a value of 1,929,229 euros.

-

On 28 December 2021, the Company formalised the purchase of 17 homes and 17 garages in the town of
Tarancón, province of Cuenca. The total price of the operations was 918,000 euros of which 34,054 euros
in transaction costs. The properties were appraised in the post-acquisition weeks following RICS valuations,
at a value of 1,812,969 thousand euros.

-

On 30 December 2021, the Company formalised the purchase of 25 homes , 25 garages and 17 storage
rooms in 2 buildings in the towns of Tarancon in the province of Cuenca, and Fuensalida, in the province
Toledo. The total price of the operation was 1,075,000 euros for purchase and 140,167 euros in transaction
costs. The properties were valued at in the following weeks using RICS valuation criteria, reaching a value
of 2,361,284 euros.

In addition, during 2021 furniture for the dwellings has been purchased for EUR 6,642 (EUR 24,500 during
2020).
During the year 2021, the Company did not sell any assets. Nor did it do so during the 2020 financial year.
At 31 December 2021 all of the Company's properties, except those acquired on 3 December 2020, 27 October
2021, 28 December 2021 and 30 December 2021, are mortgaged (see Note 11).
Appendix I to these notes to the financial statements contains the list of the investment property owned by the
Company.
Fully Depreciated Assets
There are no fully depreciated items at 31 December 2021.
Purchase commitments
At 31 December 2021 there is a purchase commitment entered into on 23 November 2021 by deed executed by
Mr Juan Aznar de la Haza under notarial record 6082, whereby Ktesios undertakes to purchase 12 dwellings
from the debtor of the loan described in Note 7.1. The properties were subject to the right of first refusal by the
Autonomous Community of Valencia, having been notified of the intention to purchase on 25 November 2021.
In 2022, the Community of Valencia waived its right of first refusal on the properties and the purchase could be
effected on 29 March 2022 (see Note 15).
As at 31 December 2020 there were no real estate purchase commitments.
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Sales commitments
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 there are no sale commitments on the Company's investment
property portfolio.
As at 31 December 2021, two of the Company's properties held purchase options with their respective tenants,
and the Board of Directors considers that the execution of these options is not assured at the end of this financial
year, nor have the risks and rewards of the property been transferred.
On 30 October 2019, a purchase option contract was signed for the property located at 12 Miguel Delibes Street
in Rielves (Toledo), which expires on 29 October 2022, at which time the tenant may exercise the purchase
option. The total price of the sale and purchase, in the event that it is carried out, has been set at 72,250 euros,
the lessee having paid a non-refundable premium to be able to access the purchase of the same. The agreed
payment for the purchase option premium is 12,750 euros, of which 1,500 euros were paid upon signing the
contract, with the remaining amount pending being deferred until the end of the contract in monthly
instalments. During 2020 and 2021, the lessee-grantee has defaulted on payments due.
On 5 November 2019, a purchase option contract was signed for the property located at calle Castilla la Mancha
no. 71 in Tembleque (Toledo), which expires on 4 November 2022, at which time the tenant may exercise the
purchase option. The total price of the sale and purchase, in the event that it is carried out, has been set at 49,300
euros, the lessee having paid a non-refundable premium to be able to access the purchase of the same. The
agreed payment for the purchase option premium is 8,700 euros, of which 2,900 euros were paid upon signing
the contract, with the remaining amount pending being deferred until the end of the contract in monthly
instalments.
This premium paid by the tenants is not considered contractually as a deduction in the future sale price, but is
an option to access the possible purchase of such property without in any case the amounts already paid being
able to be deducted from the purchase price already agreed upon. In the event of withdrawal, the lessee shall
not be entitled to any refund of the amounts paid by way of premium or additional payment in connection with
the purchase option.
Insurance
The Company has taken out various insurance policies to cover the risks to which its investment properties are
subject. In the opinion of the Company Board of Directors, these policies are considered sufficient to cover the
carrying value of the insured assets.

Procedures for appraisal
At 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, investment property is stated at acquisition cost.
At year end, the fair value of the Company's investment property is calculated on the basis of reports prepared
by independent valuers in accordance with the Valuation Standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (RICS).
The carrying amount and fair value of investment property as at 31 December 2021 at development level are
reported below.
Development

Book value

Fair value

C/ Canalejas, 4, Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)

574,464

920,425

C/ Oriente, 9, Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)

219,833

326,042

54,102

163,450

C/ Clavel, 14-16, Cazalegas (Toledo)

Eff. Date
31
December
2021
31
December
2021
31
December
2021

Discount
rate
5.50%
5.50%
5.50%
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C/ Clavel, 23, Cazalegas (Toledo)

70,339

200,857

C/ Castilla La Mancha, Tembleque (Toledo)

108,744

291,410

C/ Miguel Delibes y C/ Garcilaso de la Vega, Rielves
(Toledo)

597,963

1,622,582

Av. del Santo corner of c/ Emigrante with c/
Ferrocarril, Malagón (Ciudad Real)

433,538

943,351

C/ Ancha, 46, Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)

580,226

1,411,994

Av. Marqués de Montemayor, 3-5, Villaseca de la
Sagra (Toledo)

288,118

728,179

C/ San José Obrero, 27-29 with Av. San Crispín, 71,
Fuensalida (Toledo)

329,823

917,124

C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Santa Olalla (Toledo)

502,720

1,340,115

C/ Ronda, 66, Herencia (Ciudad Real)

371,993

731,653

C/ Teniente Miranda, 121, Algeciras (Cádiz)

798,072

1,779,505

C/ Viñuelas, 2 and C/ Zarza, 6, Mejorada (Toledo)

904,490

2,044,604

C/ San Sebastián, 25 with C/ Poeta García Lorca, 2,
Alcantarilla (Murcia)

738,813

1,587,055

Av. de Valencia, 91, Caudete (Albacete)

172,699

355,158

C/ Lepanto, 2, Teulada (Alicante)

381,427

650,414

C/ Antonio Machado, 22, Catral (Alicante)

365,432

923,657

C/ Isaac Albéniz, 12, Tarancón (Cuenca)

952,054

1,812,969

C/ Juan Caro, 17, Fuensalida (Toledo)

333,464

597,817

C/ San Víctor, 17, Tarancón (Cuenca)

881,703

1,763,467

31
December
2021
31
December
2021
31
December
2021
31
December
2021
31
December
2021
31
December
2021
31
December
2021
31
December
2021
31
December
2021
31
December
2021
31
December
2021
31
December
2021
31
December
2021
31
December
2021
31
December
2021
31
December
2021
31
December
2021
31
December
2021

5.50%
5.50%
5.50%
5.50%
5.50%
5.50%
5.50%
5.75%
5.75%
5.00%
6.00%
5.75%
5.50%
5.25%
5.25%
5.75%
5.50%
5.75%

9,660,017 21,111,828
There were no valuation adjustments recognised or reversed for any investment property during the financial
year.
The Board of Directors continuously monitors the evolution of the value of the real estate assets owned by the
Company. This vigilance has been intensified by the emergence of COVID-19. From the result of this monitoring
it can be concluded that nationwide real estate values are decreasing. However, the property markets are
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primarily local and in the locations where the Company owns properties no significant decline in value is
expected.
6.

Leases

The Company acts as a lessor in certain operating leases, the minimum lease payments of which, in accordance
with the current contracts in force, do not take into account the impact of common expenses, future variations
in CPI or future updates of contractually agreed rents, are as follows:

Minimum fees
Less than one year
Total

Euros
2021
2020
303,137
190,110
303,137
190,110

Leases signed for 2021 have an initial duration of one year with an option to extend up to seven years at the
lessee's option. Regardless of the maximum duration and for the purposes of this Note, the following 12 months
after the contract is signed are considered as minimum future collections.
7.

Financial assets

7.1

Analysis by categories

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, financial assets break down as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost
Non-current financial assets
Non-current financial investments
Loans to third parties
Other financial assets
Non-current trade receivables
Trade receivables for sales and services
Current financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables for sales and services
Other receivables
Current financial investments
Other financial assets
Total

Euros
31/12/2021 31/12/2020
1,418,817
8,392
1,418,817
3,700
1,405,661
13,156
3,700
4,692
4,692
742,749
129,335
722,207
118,015
34,724
13,682
687,483
104,333
20,542
11,320
20,542
11,320
2,161,566
137,727

The caption "Loans to third parties" in "Non-current financial assets" includes the acquisition of a mortgage loan
(and its associated expenses) which is secured by 12 dwellings in the town of Moncada, province of Valencia. On
23 November 2021, a deed of promise of payment in kind was signed with the owner-debtor, before Mr. Juan
Aznar de la Haza, Notary Public of Madrid, under notarial record 6082. On 2 March 2022, the acquisition of the
12 dwellings secured by payment in kind took place (see Note 15).
The heading "Other receivables" includes outstanding indemnities at 31 December 2021 from non-payment
insurance policies amounting to 18,801 euros. In addition, there is a balance pending repayment of 118,735
euros by the Castilla-La Mancha Regional Government. This is due to the fact that the settlements made for
Capital Transfer and Documented Legal Acts Tax on the first two asset purchases made by the Company on 1
April 2019 and 21 June 2019 were made without a discount (Note 1.a). Following the Company's notification on
25 September 2019 that it had opted to apply the REIT regime, a claim for the return of the surplus was made.
It also includes an amount of 61,667 euros corresponding to various expenses arising from the sales to Unicaja
Banco, SA (formerly Liberbank, SA), for which the Company took responsibility in order to put the properties
into operation as soon as possible, but which correspond to the seller.
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The heading "Other financial assets “of both non-current and current financial assets includes security deposits
made with the corresponding public bodies arising from leases.
7.2

Maturity analysis

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, financial assets classified by year of maturity are broken down as follows:
31 December 2021

Surety bonds deposited
Trade and other receivables
Total

Financial assets
2022
2023
Total
20,542
13,156
33,698
722,207
722,207
742,749
13,156
755,905

31/12/2020

Surety bonds deposited
Trade and other receivables
Total

Financial assets
2021
2022
Total
11,320
3,700
15,020
118,015
4,775
122,790
129,335
8,475
137,810

The total amount does not coincide with the analysis by category because the payment of the premium for the
purchase options mentioned in Note 5 extends beyond one year. None of the contracts provides for interest on
this deferral of payment. The payment of the call option premium has been accounted for using the effective
interest rate method.
Transactions in provisions for commercial transactions
The breakdown of the movement in the provision for the years ended 31 December 2021 y 2020 is as follows:
2021
(17,189)
(64,597)
68,196
(13,590)

Opening balance
Provision for value impairment of receivables
Reversal of provision for value impairment of receivables
Final balance

2020
(5,464)
(25,257)
13,532
(17,189)

The amount of doubtful rents is 39,360 euros.
8.

Inventory

At 31 December 2021, the Company maintains an amount of 24,420 euros corresponding to a provision for the
registration of the purchase and sale of real estate on 30 December 2021 and its mortgage (15,031 euros), a
provision for the legal process of claiming the deposit on the Benidorm properties (7,100 euros) and other minor
amounts advanced in payment of invoices to various suppliers.

9.

Cash and cash equivalents

The heading “Cash and cash equivalents” includes the Company's cash on hand.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash in hand
Total

Euros
31/12/2021
31/12/2020
969,696
1,493,727
969,696
1,493,727
969,696
1,493,727
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At 31 December 2021, the balance of "Cash and cash equivalents" is unrestricted, except for a total of 62,700
euros for obligations related to one of the mortgage loans. As at 31 December 2020, the balance was all
unrestricted.

10.

Net Assets

Registered capital
On 21 March 2019, the Company was incorporated through the issue of 15,000 shares with a par value of 10
euros each, all of the same class.
On 20 June 2019, the Company carried out its first capital increase with the issue of 49,500 shares of EUR 10 par
value each.
On 28 November 2019, it carried out its second capital increase with the issue of 155,500 shares at a nominal
value of 10 euros each. Of the 155,500 new shares issued, 44,000 were subscribed by credit offsetting and
111,500 by cash contribution. The loans that were offset in this capital increase were capital injections made on
account of this capital increase but were contributed more than two months earlier.
On 15 July 2020, following the resolution to transform the limited liability company into a public limited
company (Note 1.f), it carried out its third capital increase with the issue of 191,400 shares at a par value of 10
euros and a share premium of 0.50 euros each. All 191,400 new shares issued were subscribed for in cash.
On 24 November 2020, it carried out its fourth capital increase with the issue of 118,600 shares at a par value
of 10 euros and a share premium of 1 euro each. All 118,600 new shares issued were subscribed for in cash. The
capital increase was registered with the Commercial Registry of Madrid on 26 December 2020.
On 29 June 2021, it carried out its fifth capital increase with the issue of 170,001 shares at a par value of 10
euros and a share premium of 2 euros each, for a total share premium of 340,002 euros. All 170,001 new shares
issued were subscribed for in cash. The capital increase has been registered with the Commercial Registry of
Madrid on 18 August 2021.
On 09 December 2021, it carried out its sixth capital increase with the issue of 168,000 shares at a par value of
10 euros and a share premium of 2.50 euros each, for a total share premium of 420,000 euros. All new shares
issued were subscribed for in monetary contribution. The capital increase has been registered with the
Commercial Registry of Madrid on 27 December 2021.
At 31 December 2021, the Company's capital amounted to 8,680,010 euros, represented by 868,001 shares with
a par value of 10 euros each. At 31 December 2020, the capital amounted to 5,300,000 euros, represented by
530,000 shares with a nominal value of 10 euros each.
All shares issued up to and including the fourth capital increase (on 24 November 2020) started trading on the
Euronext Access Lisbon multilateral trading system on 1 June 2021 under ISIN ES0105536009 and trading
symbol or ticker MLKTS. The shares issued on 29 June 2021 were also traded on 8 September 2021 under the
same conditions and identification as the other shares. The shares issued on 9 December 2021 started trading
on 14 January 2022, under the same conditions and with the same identification as the rest of the shares.
As at 31 December 2021 and of 2020, the shareholders holding 5% or more of the share capital are as follows:
At 31 December 2021:
DIRECT
Share %
RKS REAL ESTATE
SOCIETE EN
COMMANDITE
SPECIALE
CORINPAT S.A.

INDIRECT

No. of shares

Share %

TOTAL

No. of shares

Share %

No. of shares

74.8481%

649,682

-

-

74.8481%

649,682

6.3825%

55,400

-

-

6.3825%

55,400
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Total

81.2306%

705,082

-

-

81.2306%

705,082

At 31 December 2020:

DIRECT
Share %
RKS REAL ESTATE
SOCIETE EN
COMMANDITE
SPECIALE

INDIRECT

No. of shares

Share %

TOTAL

No. of shares

Share %

No. of shares

75.2113%

398,620

-

-

75.2113%

398,620

CORINPAT S.A.

6.4323%

34,091

-

-

6.4323%

34,091

HENRY NOEL
GALLEGO GRAJALES

3.0809%

16,329

1.9315%

10,237

5.0125%

26,566

84.7245%

449,040

1.9315%

10,237

86.6560%

459,277

Total

Issue premium
On 15 July 2020, the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders approved a capital increase with the issue of
191,400 new shares of this and only existing series and class, with a par value of EUR 10 each and a share
premium of EUR 0.50 each. In total, this capital increase increased the share capital by 1,914,000 euros and the
share premium in the company's equity by 95,700 euros.
On 24 November 2020, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders approved a capital increase with the
issue of 118,600 new shares of this and only existing series and class, with a par value of EUR 10 each and a
share premium of EUR 1 each. In total, this capital increase increased the share capital by 1,186,000 euros and
the share premium in the company's equity by 118,600 euros.
On 29 June 2021, the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders approved a capital increase with the issue of
170,001 new shares of this and only existing series and class, with a par value of EUR 10 each and a share
premium of EUR 2 each. In total, this capital increase increased the share capital by 1,700,010 euros and the
share premium in the company's equity by 340,002 euros.
On 09 December 2021, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders approved a capital increase with the
issue of 168,000 new shares of the same and only existing series and class, with a par value of EUR 10 each and
a share premium of EUR 2.5 each. In total, this capital increase increased the share capital by 1,680,000 euros
and the share premium in the company's equity by 420,000 euros.
There was no share premium on issues of new shares (formerly equity holding) prior to 2020.
Legal reserve
Under the Corporate Enterprises Act, 10% of income for each year must be transferred to the legal reserve until
the balance of this reserve reaches at least 20% of capital stock. This reserve may also be used to increase the
share capital in respect of the portion exceeding 10% of the capital already increased. Except for the purpose
mentioned above, and as long as it does not exceed 20% of the share capital and taking into account the
limitations established by the special regime for REITs, this reserve may only be used to offset losses and
provided that no other sufficient reserves are available for this purpose.
In accordance with the special tax regime for REITs, the legal reserve may not exceed 20% of the share capital.
At 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Company has not set aside any amount as a legal reserve.

Voluntary reserves

27

KTESIOS REAL ESTATE SOCIMI, S.A.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021
(In euros)
The balance of this heading at 31 December 2021 and 2020 corresponds to the expenses associated with the
incorporation and capital increases during the life of the Company.
Results from previous years
The General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company held on 29 June 2021 approved the application of the
result of the financial year 2020, with a loss of EUR 569,609, to the heading "Negative results of previous years".
Dividend distribution and capital management
The REITs are regulated by the special tax regime established in Law 11/2009, of 26 October, modified by Law
16/2012, of 27 December, which regulates Spanish Real Estate Investment Trusts. They shall be obliged to
distribute the profit obtained in the year in the form of dividends to their shareholders once the corresponding
commercial obligations have been fulfilled, and they must agree to do so within six months of the end of each
financial year, in the following manner:
(i)
100 per cent of the profits from dividends or shares in profits distributed by holdings in other REITs or
other holdings whose main corporate purpose is the acquisition of urban real estate.
(ii)
At least 50 per cent of the profits derived from the transfer of real estate and shares or holdings referred
to in Article 2(1) of Law 11/2009, made after the periods referred to in Article 3(3) of the said Law have elapsed,
used for the fulfilment of its main corporate purpose. The rest of these profits must be reinvested in other real
estate or holdings for the fulfilment of this purpose within three years from the date of transfer. Otherwise, such
profits must be distributed in full together with any profits from the year in which the reinvestment period ends.
If the items to be reinvested are transferred before the maintenance period, those profits must be distributed in
full together with the profits, if any, from the year in which they were transferred. The obligation to distribute
does not extend to the portion of these profits attributable to years in which the Company was not taxed under
the special tax regime established in the aforementioned Law.
(iii)

At least 80 percent of the remaining profits obtained.

When the distribution of dividends is made with a charge to reserves from the profits of a financial year in which
the special tax regime has been applied, the distribution of dividends must be made in accordance with the
agreement referred to in the previous section.
The legal reserve of companies that have opted for the application of the special tax regime established in said
Law may not exceed 20 percent of the share capital. The statutes of these companies may not establish any other
reserve of an unavailable nature different from the above.
The Company has the statutory obligation to make dividend distributions within the provisions of the REIT Law.

11.

Financial liabilities

11.1

Analysis by categories

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the amounts of financial liabilities are broken down as follows:
Debts owed to financial
institutions

Derivatives and others

Total
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31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 31/12/2021 31/12/2020
NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
Bank borrowings (Note
11.3)

3,380,646

2,486,256

31,180

20,850

3,411,826

2,507,106

3,380,646

2,486,256

31,180

20,850

3,411,826

2,507,106

3,380,646

2,486,256

-

-

3,380,646

2,486,256

-

-

31,180

20,850

31,180

20,850

484,802

159,104

272,065

121,248

756,867

233,722

484,802

159,104

272,065

121,248

756,867

233,722

484,802

159,104

-

-

484,802

159,104

Other financial liabilities

-

-

24,655

16,806

24,655

16,806

Trade and other payables

-

-

235,941

100,945

235,941

100,945

Advances

-

-

11,469

3,497

11,469

3,497

3,865,448

2,645,360

303,245

142,098

4,168,693

2,787,458

Other financial liabilities
CURRENT FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
Bank borrowings (Note
11.3)

TOTAL

The “Other financial liabilities" heading includes the guarantees and deposits provided by tenants to the
Company.
During the financial year 2021 and 2020, the movement in bonds and deposits are broken down as follows:
2021
Surety
bonds
Opening
balance
Registrations
Derecognitions
Final balance

2020
Surety
bonds

Deposits

Deposits

31,155

4,135

11,750

2,325

47,555
28,720
49,990

4,500
2,790
5,845

22,445
3,040
31,155

2,200
390
4,135

In addition,
"Trade and
other payables" includes payables to related parties arising from payments on behalf of the Company (Note
14.4).
11.2

Maturity analysis

At 31 December 2021 and of 2020, the amounts of financial liabilities classified by year of maturity are as
follows:

At 31 December 2021:
Financial liabilities
2022
Debts owed to financial
institutions
Other financial liabilities

2023

2024

494,254 249,099 254,489
24,655

31,180

-

2025

2026

260,359 266,181
-

-

Subsequent
Years

Total

2,432,379 3,956,761
-

55,835
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Trade and other payables
Total

249,317
768,226 280,279 254,489

260,359 266,181

249,317
2,432,379 4,261,913

At 31 December 2020:
Financial liabilities
2021
Debts owed to financial
institutions
Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total

2022

2023

2024

2025

Subsequent
Years

Total

164,957 176,443 180,404

184,321 188,594

1,818,294 2,713,013

16,806 20,850
100,945
282,708 197,293 180,404

184,321 188,594

37,656
100,945
1,818,294 2,851,614

The total amount does not coincide with the analysis by category because the loans held by the Company were
recorded at each time at amortized cost and, therefore, all the costs incurred in obtaining this financing and
which were paid at the time they were granted are netting out the outstanding debt and are being amortized
over the life of each loan. The unamortised amount of these expenses at 31 December 2021 is EUR 91,313 (31
December 2020: EUR 70,769).
11.3

Debts owed to financial institutions

The debts contracted with the banks are due to 7 mortgage loans, each corresponding to an asset purchase, and
to the existing credit line with Bankinter SA. They are summarized in the following table:
Noncurrent
debt
Constitution
date

Expiration
date

01/04/2019

01/04/2034

21 June 2019

21/06/2034

30
September
2019
28 January
2020
30 June 2020
05 March
2021
02
September
2021
30 December
2021

30/09/2034
28/01/2035
30/06/2035
05/03/2036
02/09/2022
30/12/2036

Annual
interest
rate
Fixed
2.5%
Fixed
2.15%
Fixed
2.15%
Fixed
2.0%
Fixed
2.0%
Max (0;
Eur12M)
+2.0%
Max (0;
Eur12M)
+1.75%

Fixed
2.25%

Amount
financed

Current debt

Principal

Unpaid accrued
interest

Principal

Financial
expenditure for
the financial
year

Interest
paid

585,000

474,936

35,730

1,064

15,018

13,423

1,170,000

986,360

74,672

634

27,596

23,993

497,700

427,564

31,593

27

11,528

10,374

354,864

312,001

22,565

56

8,565

8,227

188,482

170,751

11,884

10

4,751

3,798

355,000

338,394

16,606

513

6,610

5,325

301,205

-

301,205

256

1,307

1,051

752,500

752,500

-

47

54

-

4,204,751

3,462,506

494,255

2,607

75,430

66,191

The difference between the debts to credit institutions recorded on the balance sheet and the nominal amount
outstanding at 31 December 2021 shown in the table above corresponds to the effect of the depreciated cost. At
year-end 2021, this amounts to 91,313 euros (70,769 euros at 31 December 2020).
The loan constituted on 1 April 2019 is secured by all real estate acquired on 1 April 2019 (Note 5 and Annex
1). The lender is Unicaja Banco, S.A. (formerly Liberbank, S.A.). RKS Real Estate Société en Commadite Spéciale
is guarantor for this loan. The rental income arising from these properties and the indemnities from insurance
against non-payment of rent contracted for the lease contracts arising from these properties are pledged for the
sole purpose of meeting the Company's obligations under this loan. The maturity date of the loan is 01 April
2034. Interest paid during 2021 was 13,423 euros (14,263 euros in 2020). The accrued and unpaid interest as
at 31 December 2021 amounted to EUR 1,064 (31 December 2020: EUR 1,136).
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The loan constituted on 21 June 2019 is secured by all real estate acquired on 21 June 2019 (Note 5 and Annex
1). The lender is Unicaja Banco, S.A. (formerly Liberbank, S.A.). RKS Real Estate Société en Commadite Spéciale
is guarantor for this loan. The rental income arising from these properties and the indemnities from insurance
against non-payment of rent contracted for the lease contracts arising from these properties are pledged for the
sole purpose of meeting the Company's obligations under this loan. The maturity date of the loan is 21 June
2034. Interest paid during 2021 was 23,993 euros (25,390 euros in 2020). The accrued and unpaid interest as
at 31 December 2021 amounted to EUR 634 (31 December 2020: EUR 677).
The loan constituted on 30 September 2019 is secured by all real estate acquired on 30 September 2019 (Note
5 and Annex 1). The lender is Unicaja Banco, S.A. (formerly Liberbank, S.A.). The rental income arising from
these properties and the indemnities from insurance against non-payment of rent contracted for the lease
contracts arising from these properties are pledged for the sole purpose of meeting the Company's obligations
under this loan. The maturity date of the loan is 30 September 2034. Interest paid during 2021 was 10,865 euros
(1,927 euros in 2020). The accrued and unpaid interest as at 31 December 2021 amounted to EUR 27 (31
December 2020: EUR 29).
The loan constituted on 28 January 2020 is secured by all real estate acquired on 28 January 2020 (Note 5 and
Annex 1). The lender is Unicaja Banco, S.A. (formerly Liberbank, S.A.). The rental income arising from these
properties and the indemnities from insurance against non-payment of rent contracted for the lease contracts
arising from these properties are pledged for the sole purpose of meeting the Company's obligations under this
loan. The maturity date of the loan is 28 January 2035. Interest paid during 2021 was 8,227 euros (6,663 euros
in 2020). The accrued and unpaid interest as at 31 December 2021 amounted to EUR 56 (31 December 2020:
EUR 1,262).
The loan constituted on 30 June 2020 is secured by all real estate acquired on 30 June 2020 (Note 5 and Annex
1). The lender is Unicaja Banco, S.A. (formerly Liberbank, S.A.). The rental income arising from these properties
and the indemnities from insurance against non-payment of rent contracted for the lease contracts arising from
these properties are pledged for the sole purpose of meeting the Company's obligations under this loan. The
maturity date of the loan is 30 June 2035. Interest paid during 2021 was 3,798 euros (1,927 euros in 2020). The
accrued and unpaid interest as at 31 December 2021 amounted to EUR 10 (31 December 2020: EUR 11).
The loan constituted on 3 March 2021 is secured by all real estate acquired on 3 March 2021 (Note 5 and Annex
1). The lender is Bankinter, S.A. The loan has a compound interest rate of benchmark plus spread. The reference
rate is the 12-month Euribor, with a minimum of 0% and a spread of 2%. The maturity date of the loan is 05
March 2036. The interest paid during 2021 amounted to 5,325 euros. Accrued and unpaid interest as at 31
December 2021 amounted to EUR 513.
On 2 September 2021, the Company entered into a credit facility with Bankinter for a maximum amount of
300,000 euros, maturing in one year and bearing interest at a floating rate of Euribor 12 months (with a
minimum of 0%) plus a spread of 1.75% on the principal drawn down and a fixed interest rate of 0.25% on the
principal not drawn down. On 27 October 2021, the Company extended the limit of the credit facility to EUR
500,000. Interest paid during 2021 amounted to EUR 1,051. Accrued and unpaid interest at 31 December 2021
is EUR 256.
The loan constituted on 30 December 2021 is secured by all real estate acquired on 30 December 2021 (Note 5
and Annex 1). The lender is Unicaja Banco, S.A. The rental income arising from these properties and the
indemnities from insurance against non-payment of rent contracted for the lease contracts arising from these
properties are pledged for the sole purpose of meeting the Company's obligations under this loan. Also, the
blocking of 62,700 euros in cash is imposed to secure part of the instalments to be paid in the loan repayment
schedule. Once the properties have been leased, this blockade would be lifted. The maturity date of the loan is
30 December 2036. No interest has been paid during 2021. Accrued and unpaid interest as at 31 December 2021
amounted to EUR 47.
For all loans arranged with Unicaja Banco, S.A. (formerly Liberbank, S.A.), the Company is obliged to insure the
properties against certain basic risks and to use these bank accounts to collect the rents from the mortgaged
properties. There are no obligations to comply with any financial ratios.
As at 31 December 2021, in the opinion of the Company Board of Directors, the Company is in full compliance
with all terms, conditions, pacts and provisions of the existing financing agreements.
11.4

Information on the nature and level of risk of financial instruments
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The Company has the necessary mechanisms in place to control exposure to interest rate fluctuations, as well
as credit and liquidity risks. The main financial risks affecting the Company are as follows:
Credit risk
Credit risk represents the losses that the Company would suffer in the event that a counterparty failed to meet
its contractual payment obligations to the Company.
With regard to its customers, it is the Company's policy to request one monthly rent as a deposit, as well as to
contract insurance to cover the possible risk of non-payment with any of the tenants. 97.9% of the leases in force
at 31 December 2021 are covered against the risk of non-payment by a default insurance policy, compared to
87.4% at 31 December 2020.
The default ratio at 31 December 2021 of the tenant portfolio is higher than expected at 13.2% (7.4% at 31
December 2020). However, rental contracts are covered by an insurance against non-payment of rent, which
covers 12 months' rent, eviction costs (with a maximum of (up to a maximum of 3.000 euros) 3,000 and up to
3,000 euros for vandalism. As a result, 18,801 euros in compensation is pending from the insurance company
for non-payment.
With respect to financial positions, the Company's policy is to hold its cash at financial institutions of recognized
prestige (see Note 9).
Liquidity risk
This risk reflects the possible difficulty that the Company may not have, or may not be able to access, sufficient
liquid funds at an appropriate cost to enable it to meet its payment obligations at all times.
In order to ensure liquidity and to be able to meet all payment commitments arising from its activity, the
Company has cash at its disposal as shown on its balance sheet.
Interest rate risk
The Company has mitigated its interest rate risk by arranging fixed-rate financing. 83.4% of the financing
contracted with credit institutions is of this type. The Company's interest rate risk arises mainly from debt with
credit institutions issued at variable interest rates, the main reference rate being Euribor. This class represents
16.6% of the debt with credit institutions.
Currency risk
The Company is not exposed to exchange rate risk since it carries out its operations in the Euro, which is its
functional and presentation currency.
Tax risk
As mentioned in Note 1, in 2019 the Company availed itself of the special REIT tax regime. In accordance with
Article 6 of the REIT Law, companies that have opted for this system are obliged, once the corresponding
commercial obligations have been fulfilled, to distribute the profit obtained in the financial year, and the
distribution must be agreed within six months of the end of each financial year and paid within one month of
the date of the distribution agreement.
In the event that the shareholders do not approve the distribution of dividends proposed by the Board of
Directors, which has been calculated according to the requirements set forth in the aforementioned Law, they
would not be complying with it, and therefore would be liable to pay taxes under the general tax regime and not
the one applicable to the REITs. However, this distribution of results, in accordance with the requirements of
the REIT Law, is a policy of the Company to the extent that it is included in the Articles of Association.
In the opinion of the governing body, the Company has mitigated the risks of non-compliance for taxation in the
special regime of REITs to acceptable levels.
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11.5

Trade and other payables

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the detail of the balance sheet heading "Trade and other payables" is:

Other payables
Creditor group companies and associates (Note 14.4)
Public entities, other (Note 13.1)
Advances from customers
Total
12.

Income and expenses

12.1

Net turnover

Euros
31/12/2021 31/12/2020
72,230
54,315
163,711
46,630
7,388
1,994
11,469
3,497
254,798
106,436

The distribution of the Company's net turnover is as follows:
2021

2020

Services rendered

514,334

267,913

Income from rentals
Income from the passing on of costs related to
the lease contract
TOTAL

442,736

251,754

71,598

16,159

514,334

267,913

The entire revenue figure for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 has been realised domestically.

12.2

Other operating expenses

The other operating expenses are as follows:

Operating costs of buildings
Independent professional services
Insurance premiums
Banking services
Homeowners' association fees
Other expenditure
Taxes
Losses, impairment and changes in trade
provisions
TOTAL

2021
99,219
631,353
28,032
10,684
63,568
48,513
36,311

2020
49,957
258,780
16,015
2,925
56,875
2,137
21,367

64,597

25,257

982,277

433,313

The heading "Property operating expenses" includes the costs of repairs, maintenance and those related to
property supplies.
The heading "Independent professional services" includes fees related to management contracts signed with
RKS AM amounting to EUR 371,458 (in comparison, EUR 170,759 accrued during the financial year 2020). The
contracts are described in Notes 1.d and 1.e.
There are 12,173 euros for home insurance policies under the heading "Insurance premiums" (7,976 euros in
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the financial year 2019). The remaining 15,859 euros is for non-payment of rent insurance policies (8,039 euros
in 2019).
The heading “Other expenses” includes expenses related to communication, travel and similar expenses.
The heading "Taxes" includes the amounts of Real Estate Tax for 2021.
Fees accrued during the year ended 31 December 2021 by Grant Thornton, S.L.P., Sole Proprietorship for audit
services of financial statements amounted to EUR 15,000 (EUR 12,000 for the audit of the year ended 31
December 2020). In addition, EUR 6,000 has been invoiced for the limited review of the interim financial
statements for the six months ended 30 June 2021 (no limited review of interim financial statements was made
in 2020).
12.3

Personnel expenses

The Company has no employees, as it uses external services for the management of the Company, for the
administrative department and for the management of the property leases.
12.4

Finance expenses

During the year 2021, 75,430 euros were accrued for financial expenses. 74,123 euros pertain to the expenses
accrued for mortgage loans. 2,607 euros of these are outstanding at 31 December 2021 (Note 11.3). The
remaining 1,307 euros corresponds to interest on the credit line granted by Bankinter S.A.
12.5

Other gains/(losses)

On 2 July 2020, the Company signed an earnest money contract to acquire 48 specific properties (24 houses and
24 garages) in Benidorm (Alicante) from a third-party company. 330,000 EUR was paid as a deposit. The
deadline for the execution of the sale and purchase transaction was 14 August 2020. The Company made its best
efforts to carry out the sale, according to the terms and conditions of the signed contract, but the other party
breached the terms and conditions and did not carry out the sale. On 29 October 2020, Ktesios filed an
application for precautionary measures requesting the preventive seizure of the assets of the entity that signed
the contract with Ktesios and of the owners and directors of the latter, in an amount sufficient to cover the sum
of € 660,000 (return of the duplicate deposit), as well as the sum of € 54,030.39 for interest, costs and fees of
the future proceedings, for a total of 738,301.63 euros. At the beginning of March 2021 was the hearing for
interim measures in respect of the breach of the earnest money contract, with the requested measures being
granted, signifying a small success in this matter. On 31 March 2021, a lawsuit was also filed in ordinary
proceedings against the entity that entered into the earnest money contract with Ktesios and its owners and
directors, in which three actions were brought: i) a claim for payment for breach of contract, ii) an individual
action for liability of directors and iii) an action to lift the veil, also against the said company managers and the
related companies.
On 28 April 2021, a court order was authorised ordering the registration of attachments on a series of assets
owned by the defendants to meet the repayment of the amounts claimed by the Company. The directors have
assessed the value of the foreclosed assets and the charges associated with them, reaching the conclusion that
it will be possible to recover at least the sum of 488,000 euros of the initially agreed down payments, which is
why the impairment of the down payments has been reversed and a profit of 158,000 euros has been obtained.
This court order implies that the foreclosed properties, which cover at least the amount claimed, become the
Company's collateral, and this is the basis for the reversal of the provision made and the inclusion of a profit.
Also included here are the indemnities accrued during the financial year 2021 for insurance contracted by the
Company amounting to EUR 30,408 (EUR 24,765 in 2020).
In addition, there are 5,497 euros accrued income from contractual penalties in the termination of lease
contracts. These penalties are incurred when the lessee breaches certain conditions of the lease such as a notice
period before terminating the lease or a minimum lease term.
13.

Tax Situation
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13.1

Current balances with Government Institutions

The detail of the balances relating to tax liabilities to public authorities at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as
follows:

Taxation authorities, VAT creditor
Taxation authorities, Personal income tax
creditor
Total

31/12/2021
90

31/12/2020
21

7,298

1,973

7,388

1,994

Under current tax legislation, tax assessments cannot be considered definitive until they have been inspected
by the tax authorities or the four-year limitation period has elapsed.
13.2

Conciliation between accounting profit and taxable income

The reconciliation between the accounting profit and taxable income for the year ended 31 December 2021 and
2020 is presented below:

Results before income tax
Expenses charged directly to equity
Permanent differences
Increases
Decreases
Temporary differences
Increases
Decreases
Taxable income

2021
(68,831)
(104,400)
(265,325)
64,675
(330,000)
(438,556)

2020
(569,609)
(39,257)
357,561
357,561
(251,305)

In accordance with the REIT Law, the current corporate tax is the result of applying the 0% rate to the taxable
base. No deductions are applicable in the first six months of 2021, nor in the financial year 2020, nor
withholdings or payments on account.
13.3

Tax years to be checked and inspections to be carried out

Under current tax legislation, taxes cannot be considered definitive until declarations have been inspected by
the tax authorities or the four-year limitation period has elapsed. As at 31 December 2021, the Company is open
to inspection for all taxes applicable to it since its incorporation. The Company's Board of Directors considers
that the aforementioned taxes have been properly settled and, therefore, even if discrepancies arise in the
interpretation of current regulations regarding the tax treatment of the transactions, any resulting liabilities, if
any, would not materially affect these financial statements.
13.4 Information requirements deriving from the status of REIT, Law 11/2009, as amended by Law
16/2012 and Law 11/2021
The information required by Article 11 of the of REITs Law is detailed below:
a)

Reserves from previous years to the application of the tax regime established in Law 11/2009, modified by
Law 16/2012.
Not applicable.

b)

Reserves from years in which the tax regime established in Law 11/2009, as amended by Law 16/2012,
has been applied.
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Not applicable.
c)

Dividends distributed out of profits for each financial year in which the tax regime established in this Law
has been applicable, differentiating the part that comes from income subject to the 0%, 15% or 19% tax
rate, with respect to those that, where applicable, have been taxed at the general tax rate.
Not applicable.

d)

In the case of distribution out of reserves, designation of the financial year from which the reserve was
appropriated and whether the reserves were taxed at the 0%, 15%, 19% rate or at the general rate.
Not applicable.

e)

Date of the agreement to distribute the dividends referred to in c) and d) above.
Not applicable.

f)

Date of acquisition of the property to be rented and of the shares in the capital of the entities referred to in
Article 2.1 of the REIT Law.
See Annex I.
There are no holdings in the capital of entities referred to in Article 2.1 of the REIT Law.

g)

Identification of the asset that counts towards the 80% referred to in Article 3.1 of the REIT Law.
All the real estate investments registered by the Company are included in this section. See Annex I.

h)

Reserves arising from the years in which the tax regime applicable under this Law was applicable, which
were set aside during the tax period, other than for distribution or to offset losses, identifying the year from
which the reserves arise.
Not applicable.

14.

Other information

14.1

Information on compliance with Article 229 of the Corporate Enterprises Act

In accordance with the provisions of Article 229 of the Corporate Enterprises Act, approved by Royal Legislative
Decree 1/2010 of 2 July, as amended by Law 31/2014 of 3 December, which amends the Corporate Enterprises
Act to improve corporate governance, the directors must report any situation of conflict, direct or indirect, that
they may have with the interest of the Company. In the year ended 31 December 2019, several contracts were
signed with key suppliers (Notes 1.d and 1.e) in which these conflictive situations could arise, a fact highlighted
in the contracts themselves to be treated and monitored during the term of the contracts with particular
scrupulousness. These contracts have remained in force, even with some modification, in the year ended 31
December 2021.
It is noted:
•

That RKS Asset Management, S.L.U. has a contract with Ktesios for the provision of consulting, management
and financial control services and a contract for the provision of administration, management and
marketing services for real estate assets; Mr. Henry Noel Gallego Grajales has a 100% shareholding in RKS
Asset Management, S.L.U. and is the sole director thereof;

•

That Mr. Henry Noel Gallego Grajales has effective voting control of RKS Real Estate Société en Commandite
Spéciale, which is the largest shareholder of Ktesios with 74.8481% of the shares (Note 10);

•

That the activity of RKS Real Estate Société en Commandite Spéciale, while having a similar investment
strategy, is complementary to the activity of Ktesios;
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•

That RKS Asset Management, S.L.U. has also entered into a contract with RKS Real Estate Société en
Commandite Spéciale for the provision of services mainly in the real estate field; and also, a contract for the
provision of real estate management services.

•

That Mr. Henry Noel Gallego Grajales, as a natural person, has a 1.8812% shareholding in Ktesios.

•

That RKS Asset Management, S.L.U, has a 1.9475% interest in Ktesios.

14.2

Remuneration and other benefits to directors and senior management

During the year ended 31 December 2021, EUR 40,000 has accrued, including the remuneration of the Managing
Director (none accrued in 2020). As at 31 December 2021, 6,500 euros are outstanding. In addition to the
amounts received indirectly for services rendered by RKS AM (Notes 1.d and 1.e), in which Mr Henry Noel
Gallego Grajales holds a majority stake.
Furthermore, the Company has no loans, advances or guarantees of any kind, nor has it entered into any pension,
life or liability insurance commitments with the directors.
Similarly, there have been no contracts between the Company and its directors for transactions outside the
ordinary course of business of the Company or which have not been carried out under normal conditions.
On 31 December 2021, the Board of Directors will be composed of 3 men (same composition as on 31 December
2020).
As at 31 December 2021, the Company has no employees, nor has it had any employees at any time since its
incorporation.
14.3

Guarantees committed to third parties and other commitments undertaken.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Company had no bank guarantees.
As at 31 December 2021, the Company has encumbered with mortgage collateral all the properties it owns,
except for those acquired on 3 December 2020, 27 October 2021 and 28 December 2021. It also has pledged the
rents generated by the mortgaged properties, as well as insurance indemnities for non-payment of rents on
these properties (Note 11).
14.4

Transactions with related parties

Details of related party transactions during 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Services provided
- RKS Asset Management, S.L.U.

Euros
2021
2020
584,438
278,657
584,438
278,657

Balances with related parties as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Creditor group companies and associates
- RKS Asset Management, S.L.U.
- Other related parties

Euros
31/12/2021 31/12/2020
163,711
46,630
157,211
46,630
6,500
-

Other financial liabilities
- RKS Asset Management, S.L.U.

Euros
31/12/2021 31/12/2020
2,267
2,366
76
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- Mr. Henry Noel Gallego Grajales

2,267

2,290

In addition, related parties participated in the capital increases in 2021 as shown in the table below (Note 10):

- RKS Real Estate
- RKS Asset Management, S.L.U.

Shares subscribed in the capital
increase agreed upon on
29 June 2021
09 December
2021
115,461
136,600
6,667
-

Total shares subscribed
during 2021 in capital
increases
252,061
6,667

14.5 Information on the average period of payment to suppliers. Third additional provision. “Duty of
disclosure" under Law 15/2010 of 5 July
The information required by the third additional provision of Law 15/2010 of July 5 (modified by the Second
Final Provision of Law 31/2014 of December 3) prepared in accordance with the ICAC Resolution of January 29,
2016, on the information to be included in the financial statements report regarding the average period for
payment to suppliers in commercial transactions, is detailed below. The provisions of Article 4 of Law 3/2004,
of 29 December, which establishes measures to combat late payment in commercial transactions, are complied
with.

Average payment period to suppliers
Paid Transaction Ratio
Outstanding Transactions Ratio
Total payments made
Total outstanding payments

15.

2021
Days
6
6
4
Euros
1,170,520
151,375

2020
Days
10
10
12
Euros
718,305
47,028

Subsequent Events

On 23 February 2022, a transaction was carried out whereby the Company acquired 8 new homes in a building
located in the town of Yuncler (Toledo). The purchase price was 415,000 euros. An independent valuation is not
available for all properties (only for 5 of the 8 dwellings). This is an ECO appraisal which resulted in a value of
385,600 euros. Seven of the eight dwellings were already rented at the time of the sale, and the Company was
subrogated to these contracts. Mortgage financing has been granted by Unicaja Banco S.A. in the amount of
176,500 euros, with a maturity of 15 years and a fixed interest rate of 2.25%.
On 2 March 2022, the transaction formalising the promise of payment in kind mentioned in Note 7.1 was
executed, resulting in the acquisition of 12 new homes in a development located in the town of Moncada
(Valencia). The sale was made by way of payment in kind. No independent valuation of the properties is
available. All of the properties were already leased at the time of the sale and the Company was subrogated to
these contracts. In addition, in the same act, the purchase and sale of 8 parking spaces in the same location was
executed for 48,000 euros.
On 29 March 2022, a transaction was carried out whereby the Company acquired 39 new homes in a building in
the town of Xilxes (Castellón). The purchase price was 2,400,000 euros. There is no independent valuation of
the properties. 94.9% of the dwellings were already leased at the time of the sale and purchase, and the Company
was subrogated to these contracts.
In addition to the events described above, in the opinion of the directors, no other events have come to light
subsequent to year-end that could have a material effect on these financial statements.
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Annex I: List of properties owned by Ktesios Real Estate SOCIMI, S.A., in accordance with the informative
requirements derived from the status as a REIT, Law 11/2009, amended by Law 16/2012 and Law
11/2021
Address
C/ Oriente, 9, Floor -1, Garage 1, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)
C/ Oriente, 9, Floor -1, Garage 4, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)
C/ Oriente, 9, Floor -1, Garage 5, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)
C/ Oriente, 9, Floor -1, Garage 8, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)
C/ Oriente, 9, Floor -1, Garage 11, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)
C/ Oriente, 9, Floor -1, Storeroom 3, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)

Registration
Data
L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Tomelloso

Land
Registry
52,308
52,311
52,312
52,315
52,318
52,320

C/ Oriente, 9, Floor -1, Storeroom 4, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)

L.R. Tomelloso

52,321

C/ Oriente, 9, Floor -1, Storeroom 8, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)

L.R. Tomelloso

52,322

L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Tomelloso
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Lillo
L.R. Lillo
L.R. Lillo
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2

52,325
52,327
52,330
47,202
47,196
47,197
47,199
47,195
47,203
47,201
47,194
47,198
47,200
6,355

C/ Oriente, 9, 1º B, 13700 Tomelloso (CIUDAD REAL)
C/ Oriente, 9, 2º A, 13700 Tomelloso (CIUDAD REAL)
C/ Oriente, 9, 3º A, 13700 Tomelloso (CIUDAD REAL)
C/ Canalejas, 4, 3º A, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)
C/ Canalejas, 4, 1º A, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)
C/ Canalejas, 4, 1º B, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)
C/ Canalejas, 4, 2º A, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)
C/ Canalejas, 4, Ground B, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)
C/ Canalejas, 4, 3º B, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)
C/ Canalejas, 4, 2º C, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)
C/ Canalejas, 4, Ground A, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)
C/ Canalejas, 4, 1º C, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)
C/ Canalejas, 4, 2º B, 13700 Tomelloso (Ciudad Real)
C/ Clavel, 16, Stair 1, 2º B, 45683 Cazalegas (Toledo)
C/ Clavel, 14, Stair 2, 1º C, 45683 Cazalegas (Toledo)
C/ Clavel, 23, Ground A, 45683 Cazalegas (Toledo)
C/ Clavel, 23, Ground E, 45683 Cazalegas (Toledo)
C/ Clavel, 23, 2º F, 45683 Cazalegas (Toledo)
C/ Castilla La Mancha, 69, 45780 Tembleque (Toledo)
C/ Castilla La Mancha, 71, 45780 Tembleque (Toledo)
C/ Castilla La Mancha, 73, 45780 Tembleque (Toledo)
C/ Miguel Delibes, 12, 45524 Rielves (Toledo)
C/ Miguel Delibes, 16, 45524 Rielves (Toledo)
C/ Miguel Delibes, 20, 45524 Rielves (Toledo)
C/ Miguel Delibes, 19, 45524 Rielves (Toledo)
C/ Garcilaso de la Vega, 2, 45524 Rielves (Toledo)
C/ Garcilaso de la Vega, 4, 45524 Rielves (Toledo)
C/ Garcilaso de la Vega, 6, 45524 Rielves (Toledo)
C/ Garcilaso de la Vega, 8, 45524 Rielves (Toledo)
C/ Garcilaso de la Vega, 10, 45524 Rielves (Toledo)
C/ Garcilaso de la Vega, 12, 45524 Rielves (Toledo)
C/ Garcilaso de la Vega, 14, 45524 Rielves (Toledo)
Av. del Santo, 103, Stair 2, 1º D, 13420 Malagón (Ciudad Real)
Av. del Santo, 103, Stair 2, 1º E, 13420 Malagón (Ciudad Real)
Av. del Santo, 103, Stair 2, 2º C, 13420 Malagón (Ciudad Real)
Av. del Santo, 103, Stair 2, 2º D, 13420 Malagón (Ciudad Real)
Av. del Santo, 103, Stair 2, 2º E, 13420 Malagón (Ciudad Real)
Av. del Santo, 103, Stair 2, 3º C, 13420 Malagón (Ciudad Real)
Av. del Santo, 103, Stair 1, 1º C, 13420 Malagón (Ciudad Real)
Av. del Santo, 103, Stair 1, 1º D, 13420 Malagón (Ciudad Real)
Av. del Santo, 103, Stair 1, 2º E, 13420 Malagón (Ciudad Real)
Av. del Santo, 103, Stair 1, 3º C, 13420 Malagón (Ciudad Real)
Av. del Santo, 103, Stair 1, Ground D, 13420 Malagón (Ciudad Real)
Av. del Santo, 103, Stair 1, Ground E, 13420 Malagón (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Ground A, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Ground C, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Ground D, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Ground E, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Ground F, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Ground G, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Ground H, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Ground I, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, 1º B, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, 1º C, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)

6,358
6,329
6,333
6,346
21,530
21,531
21,532
3,426
3,428
3,430
3,436
3,442
3,443
3,444
3,445
3,446
3,447
3,448
18,026
18,027
18,030
18,031
18,032
18,035
18,006
18,007
18,013
18,016
18,002
18,003
19,979
19,981
19,982
19,983
19,984
19,985
19,986
19,987
19,989
19,990

Type of
Asset
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
OFFICE
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING

Acquisition
Date
01/04/2019
01/04/2019
01/04/2019
01/04/2019
01/04/2019

DWELLING

21/06/2019

DWELLING

21/06/2019

DWELLING

21/06/2019

DWELLING

21/06/2019

DWELLING

21/06/2019

DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING

21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019

01/04/2019
01/04/2019
01/04/2019
01/04/2019
01/04/2019
01/04/2019
01/04/2019
01/04/2019
01/04/2019
01/04/2019
01/04/2019
01/04/2019
01/04/2019
01/04/2019
01/04/2019
01/04/2019
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Address
C/ Ancha, 46, 1º D, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, 1º E, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, 1º F, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, 1º G, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, 1º H, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, 1º J, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Floor -1, Garage 1, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Floor -1, Garage 2, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Floor -1, Garage 4, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Floor -1, Garage 5, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Floor -1, Garage 6, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Floor -1, Garage 7, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Floor -1, Garage 8, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Floor -1, Garage 10, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Floor -1, Garage 11, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Floor -1, Garage 12, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Floor -1, Garage 13, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Floor -1, Garage 14, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Floor -1, Garage 15, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Floor -1, Garage 16, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Floor -1, Garage 17, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Floor -1, Garage 18, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ancha, 46, Floor -1, Garage 19, 13170 Miguelturra (Ciudad Real)
Av. del Santo, 103, Stair 1, 2º D, 13420 Malagón (Ciudad Real)
Av. del Santo, 103, Stair 1, 2º C, 13420 Malagón (Ciudad Real)
C/ Miguel Delibes, 8, 45524 Rielves (Toledo)
C/ Miguel Delibes, 11, 45524 Rielves (Toledo)
Av. Marqués de Montemayor, 3, Ground B, 45260 Villaseca de la Sagra
(Toledo)
Av. Marqués de Montemayor, 3, Ground C, 45260 Villaseca de la Sagra
(Toledo)
Av. Marqués de Montemayor, 3, 1º B, 45260 Villaseca de la Sagra
(Toledo)
Av. Marqués de Montemayor, 3, 2º A, 45260 Villaseca de la Sagra
(Toledo)
Av. Marqués de Montemayor, 3, 2º B, 45260 Villaseca de la Sagra
(Toledo)
Av. Marqués de Montemayor, 5, Ground B, 45260 Villaseca de la Sagra
(Toledo)
Av. Marqués de Montemayor, 5, 2º A, 45260 Villaseca de la Sagra
(Toledo)
Av. Marqués de Montemayor, 5, 2º B, 45260 Villaseca de la Sagra
(Toledo)
Av. Marqués de Montemayor, 3, 2º C, 45260 Villaseca de la Sagra
(Toledo)
Av. San Crispín, 71, Stair 1, 1º A, 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
Av. San Crispín, 71, Stair 1, 2º A, 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
Av. San Crispín, 71, Stair 1, 2º B, 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
Av. San Crispín, 71, Stair 2, 1º A, 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
Av. San Crispín, 71, Stair 2, 1º B, 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
Av. San Crispín, 71, Stair 2, 1º C, 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
Av. San Crispín, 71, Stair 2, 2º A, 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
Av. San Crispín, 71, Stair 2, 2º B, 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
Av. San Crispín, 71, Stair 2, 2º C, 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
Av. San Crispín, 71, Stair 2, 2º D, 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
Av. San Crispín, 71, Stair 2, 3º B, 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Stair 8, Ground B, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Stair 5, 1º A, 45530 Santa Olalla (Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Stair 8, 1º A, 45530 Santa Olalla (Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Stair 8, 1º C, 45530 Santa Olalla (Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Stair 5, 2º B, 45530 Santa Olalla (Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Stair 8, 2º C, 45530 Santa Olalla (Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Storeroom 9, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Storeroom 12, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Storeroom 13, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Storeroom 19, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Storeroom 22, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Storeroom 26, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Garage 2, 45530 Santa Olalla

Registration
Data
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Ciudad Real 2
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Illescas 3

Land
Registry
19,991
19,992
19,993
19,994
19,995
19,997
19,955
19,956
19,958
19,959
19,960
19,961
19,962
19,964
19,965
19,966
19,967
19,968
19,969
19,970
19,972
19,973
19,974
18,012
18,011
3,091
3,092
4,872

L.R. Illescas 3

4,873

L.R. Illescas 3

4,875

L.R. Illescas 3

4,877

L.R. Illescas 3

4,878

L.R. Illescas 3

4,881

L.R. Illescas 3

4,889

L.R. Illescas 3

4,890

L.R. Illescas 3

4,879

L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Escalona

22,241
22,243
22,244
22,245
22,246
22,247
22,249
22,250
22,251
22,252
22,254
11,722

L.R. Escalona
L.R. Escalona
L.R. Escalona
L.R. Escalona
L.R. Escalona
L.R. Escalona

11,732
11,738
11,740
11,750
11,757
11,766

L.R. Escalona

11,769

L.R. Escalona

11,770

L.R. Escalona

11,776

L.R. Escalona

11,779

L.R. Escalona

11,783

L.R. Escalona

11,809

Type of
Asset
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING

Acquisition
Date
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
21/06/2019
30/09/2019
30/09/2019
30/09/2019
30/09/2019

DWELLING

30/09/2019

DWELLING

30/09/2019

DWELLING

30/09/2019

DWELLING

30/09/2019

DWELLING

30/09/2019

DWELLING

30/09/2019

DWELLING

30/09/2019

DWELLING

30/09/2019

DWELLING

30/09/2019

DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING

30/09/2019
30/09/2019
30/09/2019
30/09/2019
30/09/2019
30/09/2019
30/09/2019
30/09/2019
30/09/2019
30/09/2019
30/09/2019
28/01/2020

DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
GARAGE

28/01/2020
28/01/2020
28/01/2020
28/01/2020
28/01/2020
28/01/2020
28/01/2020
28/01/2020
28/01/2020
28/01/2020
28/01/2020
28/01/2020
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Address
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Garage 28, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Garage 33, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Garage 34, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Garage 37, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Garage 42, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Ronda, 66, Floor -1, Garage 1, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, Floor -1, Garage 2, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, Floor -1, Garage 3, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, Floor -1, Garage 5, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, Floor -1, Garage 11, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, Floor -1, Garage 12, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, Floor -1, Garage 13, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, Floor -1, Garage 15, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, Floor -1, Garage 16, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, Floor -1, Garage 17, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, Ground B, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, Ground D, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, Ground E, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, 1º D, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, 1º E, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, 2º A, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, 2º B, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, 2º C, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, 2º E, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Ronda, 66, 2º F, 13640 Herencia (Ciudad Real)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Stair 4, Ground A, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Stair 4, Ground B, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Stair 3, 1º A, 45530 Santa Olalla (Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Stair 4, 1º A, 45530 Santa Olalla (Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Stair 4, 1º B, 45530 Santa Olalla (Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Stair 2, 2º A, 45530 Santa Olalla (Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Stair 3, 2º B, 45530 Santa Olalla (Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Stair 4, 2º A, 45530 Santa Olalla (Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Stair 4, 2º B, 45530 Santa Olalla (Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Garage 4, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Garage 25, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Garage 41, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Garage 5, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Garage 35, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Garage 8, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Garage 6, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Garage 21, 45530 Santa Olalla

Registration
Data

Land
Registry

Type of
Asset

Acquisition
Date

L.R. Escalona

11,835

GARAGE

28/01/2020

L.R. Escalona

11,840

GARAGE

28/01/2020

L.R. Escalona

11,841

GARAGE

28/01/2020

L.R. Escalona

11,844

GARAGE

28/01/2020

L.R. Escalona

11,849

GARAGE

28/01/2020

L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Alcazar de
San Juan 2
L.R. Escalona

26,181

GARAGE

28/01/2020

26,182

GARAGE

28/01/2020

26,183

GARAGE

28/01/2020

26,185

GARAGE

28/01/2020

26,191

GARAGE

28/01/2020

26,192

GARAGE

28/01/2020

26,193

GARAGE

28/01/2020

26,195

GARAGE

28/01/2020

26,196

GARAGE

28/01/2020

26,197

GARAGE

28/01/2020

26,199

DWELLING

28/01/2020

26,201

DWELLING

28/01/2020

26,202

DWELLING

28/01/2020

26,207

DWELLING

28/01/2020

26,208

DWELLING

28/01/2020

26,210

DWELLING

28/01/2020

26,211

DWELLING

28/01/2020

26,212

DWELLING

28/01/2020

26,214

DWELLING

28/01/2020

26,215

DWELLING

28/01/2020

11,713

DWELLING

30/06/2020

L.R. Escalona

11,714

DWELLING

30/06/2020

L.R. Escalona
L.R. Escalona
L.R. Escalona
L.R. Escalona
L.R. Escalona
L.R. Escalona
L.R. Escalona
L.R. Escalona

11,728
11,730
11,731
11,743
11,746
11,747
11,748
11,811

DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
GARAGE

30/06/2020
30/06/2020
30/06/2020
30/06/2020
30/06/2020
30/06/2020
30/06/2020
30/06/2020

L.R. Escalona

11,832

GARAGE

30/06/2020

L.R. Escalona

11,848

GARAGE

30/06/2020

L.R. Escalona

11,812

GARAGE

30/06/2020

L.R. Escalona

11,842

GARAGE

30/06/2020

L.R. Escalona

11,815

GARAGE

30/06/2020

L.R. Escalona

11,813

GARAGE

30/06/2020

L.R. Escalona

11,828

GARAGE

30/06/2020
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Address
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Garage 27, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Storeroom 15, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Storeroom 14, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Storeroom 17, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Storeroom 16, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Storeroom 21, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Storeroom 20, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Storeroom 18, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Storeroom 11, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teodoro Sacristán, 19, Floor -1, Storeroom 45, 45530 Santa Olalla
(Toledo)
C/ Teniente Miranda, 121, Stair 1, 1º A, 11201 Algeciras (Cádiz)
C/ Teniente Miranda, 121, Stair 1, 1º B, 11201 Algeciras (Cádiz)
C/ Teniente Miranda, 121, Stair 1, 2º B, 11201 Algeciras (Cádiz)
C/ Teniente Miranda, 121, Stair 1, 3º A, 11201 Algeciras (Cádiz)
C/ Teniente Miranda, 121, Stair 1, 3º B, 11201 Algeciras (Cádiz)
C/ Teniente Miranda, 121, Stair 1, 4º A, 11201 Algeciras (Cádiz)
C/ Teniente Miranda, 121, Stair 1, 4º B, 11201 Algeciras (Cádiz)
C/ Teniente Miranda, 121, Stair 2, Ground D, 11201 Algeciras (Cádiz)
C/ Teniente Miranda, 121, Stair 2, 1º D, 11201 Algeciras (Cádiz)
C/ Teniente Miranda, 121, Stair 2, 2º D, 11201 Algeciras (Cádiz)
C/ Teniente Miranda, 121, Stair 2, 3º D, 11201 Algeciras (Cádiz)
C/ Teniente Miranda, 121, Stair 2, 4º D, 11201 Algeciras (Cádiz)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Stair 1, Ground A, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Stair 1, Ground B, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Stair 1, Ground C, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Stair 1, Ground D, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Stair 1, 1º A, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Stair 1, 1º B, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Stair 1, 1º C, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Stair 1, 1º D, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Stair 1, 1º E, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Stair 1, 2º A, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Stair 1, 2º B, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Stair 1, 2º C, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Stair 1, 2º D, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Stair 1, 2º E, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Zarza, 6, Stair 2, Ground A, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Zarza, 6, Stair 2, Ground B, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Zarza, 6, Stair 2, Ground C, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Zarza, 6, Stair 2, Ground D, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Zarza, 6, Stair 2, Ground E, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Zarza, 6, Stair 2, 1º A, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Zarza, 6, Stair 2, 1º B, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Zarza, 6, Stair 2, 1º C, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)

Registration
Data

Land
Registry

Type of
Asset

Acquisition
Date

L.R. Escalona

11,834

GARAGE

30/06/2020

L.R. Escalona

11,772

30/06/2020

L.R. Escalona

11,771

L.R. Escalona

11,774

L.R. Escalona

11,773

L.R. Escalona

11,778

L.R. Escalona

11,777

L.R. Escalona

11,775

L.R. Escalona

11,768

L.R. Escalona

11,802

L.R. Algeciras 2
L.R. Algeciras 2
L.R. Algeciras 2
L.R. Algeciras 2
L.R. Algeciras 2
L.R. Algeciras 2
L.R. Algeciras 2
L.R. Algeciras 2
L.R. Algeciras 2
L.R. Algeciras 2
L.R. Algeciras 2
L.R. Algeciras 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de

81,326
81,328
81,332
81,334
81,336
81,338
81,340
81,344
81,348
81,352
81,356
81,360
3,195

STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING

3,196

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,197

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,198

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,204

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,205

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,206

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,207

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,208

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,215

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,216

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,217

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,218

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,219

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,199

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,200

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,201

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,202

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,203

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,209

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,210

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,211

DWELLING

03/12/2020

30/06/2020
30/06/2020
30/06/2020
30/06/2020
30/06/2020
30/06/2020
30/06/2020
30/06/2020
03/12/2020
03/12/2020
03/12/2020
03/12/2020
03/12/2020
03/12/2020
03/12/2020
03/12/2020
03/12/2020
03/12/2020
03/12/2020
03/12/2020
03/12/2020
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Address
C/ Zarza, 6, Stair 2, 1º D, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Zarza, 6, Stair 2, 1º F, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Zarza, 6, Stair 2, 2º A, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Zarza, 6, Stair 2, 2º B, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Zarza, 6, Stair 2, 2º E, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Zarza, 6, Stair 2, 2º F, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 1, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 3, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 5, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 7, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 9, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 11, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 13, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 15, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 17, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 19, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 21, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 25, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 27, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 29, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 2, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 4, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 6, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 8, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 10, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 12, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 14, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 16, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 18, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 20, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 22, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 28, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Garage 30, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Storeroom 3, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ Viñuelas, 2, Floor-1, Storeroom 4, 45622 Mejorada (Toledo)
C/ San Sebastian, 25, Ground C, 30820 Alcantarilla (Murcia)
C/ San Sebastián, 25, 1º-F, 30820 Alcantarilla (Murcia)
C/ San Sebastián, 25, 2ª-F, 30820 Alcantarilla (Murcia)
C/ San Sebastián, 25, 3ª-F, 30820 Alcantarilla (Murcia)
C/ San Sebastián, 25, 4ª-F, 30820 Alcantarilla (Murcia)
C/ Poeta Federico García Lorca, 2, Ground A, 30820 Alcantarilla

Registration
Data
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Talavera de
la Reina 2
L.R. Alcantarilla
L.R. Alcantarilla
L.R. Alcantarilla
L.R. Alcantarilla
L.R. Alcantarilla
L.R. Alcantarilla

Land
Registry

Type of
Asset

Acquisition
Date

3,212

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,214

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,220

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,221

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,224

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,225

DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

GARAGE

03/12/2020

3,194

STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING

03/12/2020

3,194
26,356
26,359
26,362
26,365
26,368
26,357

03/12/2020
05/03/2021
05/03/2021
05/03/2021
05/03/2021
05/03/2021
05/03/2021
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Address
(Murcia)
C/ Poeta Federico García Lorca, 2, Ground B, 30820 Alcantarilla
(Murcia)
C/ Poeta Federico García Lorca, 2, 1º-D, 30820 Alcantarilla (Murcia)
C/ Poeta Federico García Lorca, 2, 1º-E, 30820 Alcantarilla (Murcia)
C/ Poeta Federico García Lorca, 2, 2º-D, 30820 Alcantarilla (Murcia)
C/ Poeta Federico García Lorca, 2, 2º-E, 30820 Alcantarilla (Murcia)
C/ Poeta Federico García Lorca, 2, 3º-D, 30820 Alcantarilla (Murcia)
C/ Poeta Federico García Lorca, 2, 3º-E, 30820 Alcantarilla (Murcia)
C/ Poeta Federico García Lorca, 2, 4º-D, 30820 Alcantarilla (Murcia)
C/ Poeta Federico García Lorca, 2, 4º-E, 30820 Alcantarilla (Murcia)
Av. de Valencia nº 91, Floor 1, Door B - 02660 Caudete (Albacete)
Av. de Valencia nº 91, Floor 1, Door C - 02660 Caudete (Albacete)
Av. de Valencia nº 91, Floor 2, Door A - 02660 Caudete (Albacete)
Av. de Valencia nº 91, Floor 2, Door B - 02660 Caudete (Albacete)
C/ Lepanto nº 2, Floor BJ, Door 1 - 03725 Teulada (Alicante)
C/ Lepanto nº 2, Floor BJ, Door 3 - 03725 Teulada (Alicante)
C/ Lepanto nº 2, Floor BJ, Door E or 4 - 03725 Teulada (Alicante)
C/ Lepanto nº 2, Floor 1, Door 5 - 03725 Teulada (Alicante)
C/ Lepanto nº 2, Floor 1, Door 6 - 03725 Teulada (Alicante)
C/ Lepanto nº 2, Floor 2, Door 10 - 03725 Teulada (Alicante)
C/ Antonio Machado nº 22, Floor BJ, Door D - 03158 Catral (Alicante)
C/ Antonio Machado nº 22, Floor BJ, Door E - 03158 Catral (Alicante)
C/ Antonio Machado nº 22, Floor BJ, Door F - 03158 Catral (Alicante)
C/ Antonio Machado nº 22, Floor 1, Door A - 03158 Catral (Alicante)
C/ Antonio Machado nº 22, Floor 1, Door C - 03158 Catral (Alicante)
C/ Antonio Machado nº 22, Floor 1, Door E - 03158 Catral (Alicante)
C/ Antonio Machado nº 22, Floor 2, Door E - 03158 Catral (Alicante)
C/ Antonio Machado nº 22, Floor 2, Door G - 03158 Catral (Alicante)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12 Portal 1, Ground Floor, Door A - 16400
Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12 Portal 1, Floor 2, Door D - 16400 Tarancón
(Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Portal 2, Floor 2, Door B - 16400 Tarancón
(Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Portal 2, Floor 2, Door D - 16400 Tarancón
(Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Portal 3, Stair 1, Floor 2, Door A - 16400
Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Portal 3, Stair 1, Floor 2, Door B - 16400
Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Portal 3, Stair 1, Floor 2, Door C - 16400
Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Portal 3, Stair 1, Floor 2, Door D - 16400
Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12 Portal 3, Stair 1, Floor 2, Door E - 16400
Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12 Portal 3, Stair 1, Floor 2, Door G - 16400
Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12 Portal 3, Stair 2, Ground Floor, Door A - 16400
Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12 Portal 3, Stair 2, Floor 2, Door A - 16400
Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Portal 3, Stair 2, Floor 2, Door C - 16400
Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Portal 4, Floor 2, Door B - 16400 Tarancón
(Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Portal 4, Floor 2, Door D - 16400 Tarancón
(Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Portal 5, Floor 2, Door A - 16400 Tarancón
(Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Portal 5, Floor 2, Door E - 16400 Tarancón
(Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Floor -1, Spot 4 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Floor -1, Square 65 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Floor -1, Square 15 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Floor -1, Square 19 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Floor -1, Square 22 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Floor -1, Square 26 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Floor -1, Square 27 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Floor -1, Square 28 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Floor -1, Square 30 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Floor -1, Square 36 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12, Floor -1, Square 38 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12 Floor -1, Spot 41 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12 Floor -1 Spot 43 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)

Registration
Data

Land
Registry

Type of
Asset

Acquisition
Date

L.R. Alcantarilla

26,358

DWELLING

05/03/2021

L.R. Alcantarilla
L.R. Alcantarilla
L.R. Alcantarilla
L.R. Alcantarilla
L.R. Alcantarilla
L.R. Alcantarilla
L.R. Alcantarilla
L.R. Alcantarilla
L.R. Almansa
L.R. Almansa
L.R. Almansa
L.R. Almansa
L.R. Jávea 1
L.R. Jávea 1
L.R. Jávea 1
L.R. Jávea 1
L.R. Jávea 1
L.R. Jávea 1
L.R. Dolores
L.R. Dolores
L.R. Dolores
L.R. Dolores
L.R. Dolores
L.R. Dolores
L.R. Dolores
L.R. Dolores

26,360
26,361
26,363
26,364
26,366
26,367
26,369
26,370
33,019
33,020
33,022
33,023
22,575
22,579
22,581
22,583
22,585
22,593
12,362
12,364
12,366
12,368
12,372
12,376
12,390
12,394

DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING

05/03/2021
05/03/2021
05/03/2021
05/03/2021
05/03/2021
05/03/2021
05/03/2021
05/03/2021
27/10/2021
27/10/2021
27/10/2021
27/10/2021
27/10/2021
27/10/2021
27/10/2021
27/10/2021
27/10/2021
27/10/2021
27/10/2021
27/10/2021
27/10/2021
27/10/2021
27/10/2021
27/10/2021
27/10/2021
27/10/2021

L.R. Tarancon

26,024

DWELLING

28/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

26,033

DWELLING

28/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

26,042

DWELLING

28/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

26,044

DWELLING

28/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

26,054

DWELLING

28/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

26,055

DWELLING

28/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

26,056

DWELLING

28/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

26,057

DWELLING

28/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

26,058

DWELLING

28/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

26,060

DWELLING

28/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

26,062

DWELLING

28/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

26,066

DWELLING

28/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

26,068

DWELLING

28/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

26,076

DWELLING

28/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

26,078

DWELLING

28/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

26,085

DWELLING

28/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon

26,089
25,961
26,022
25,972
25,976
25,979
25,983
25,984
25,985
25,987
25,993
25,995
25,998
26,000

DWELLING
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE

28/12/2021
28/12/2021
28/12/2021
28/12/2021
28/12/2021
28/12/2021
28/12/2021
28/12/2021
28/12/2021
28/12/2021
28/12/2021
28/12/2021
28/12/2021
28/12/2021
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Address
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12 Floor -1 Spot 50 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12 Floor -1, Spot 52 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12 Floor -1, Spot 55 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Isaac Albéniz nº 12 Floor -1, Spot 56 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ Juan Caro nº 17, Ground floor, Door A - 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
C/ Juan Caro nº 17, Ground floor, Door B - 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
C/ Juan Caro nº 17, Floor 1, Door A - 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
C/ Juan Caro nº 17, Floor 1, Door B - 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
C/ Juan Caro nº 17, Floor 1, Door C - 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
C/ Juan Caro nº 17, Floor 2, Door A - 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
C/ Juan Caro nº 17, Floor 2, Door B - 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
C/ Juan Caro nº 17, Floor 2, Door C - 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
C/ Juan Caro nº 17, Floor -1, garage 1 - 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
C/ Juan Caro nº 17, Floor -1, garage 2 - 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
C/ Juan Caro nº 17, Floor -1, garage 3 - 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
C/ Juan Caro nº 17, Floor -1, garage 4 - 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
C/ Juan Caro nº 17, Floor -1, garage 5 - 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
C/ Juan Caro nº 17, Floor -1, garage 6 - 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
C/ Juan Caro nº 17, Floor -1, garage 7 - 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
C/ Juan Caro nº 17, Floor -1, garage 8 - 45510 Fuensalida (Toledo)
C/ San Víctor nº 17, Ground floor, Door A - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 Ground floor, Door C - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17, Ground floor, Door D - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17, Ground floor, Door E - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 Ground floor, Door F - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 Stair 1, Floor 1, Door A - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 Stair 1, Floor 1, Door C - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 Stair 2, Floor 1, Door D - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 Stair 2, Floor 1, Door E - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 Stair 2, Floor 1, Door F - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 Stair 2, Floor 1, Door G - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 Stair 1, Floor 2, Door B - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 Stair 1, Floor 2, Door D - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 Stair 2, Floor 2, Door G - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 Stair 2, Floor 2, Door H - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 Stair 2, Floor 02, Door I - 16400 Tarancón
(Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 Stair 2, Floor 2, Door J (duplex) 16400 Tarancón
(Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 with entrance at C/ Antonio Machado, Floor -1,
garage 1 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 with entrance at C/ Antonio Machado, Floor -1,
garage 2 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 with entrance at C/ Antonio Machado, Floor -1,
garage 3 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 with entrance at C/ Antonio Machado, Floor -1,
garage 4 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 with entrance at C/ Antonio Machado, Floor -1,
garage 5 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 with entrance at C/ Antonio Machado, Floor -1,
garage 6 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 with entrance at C/ Antonio Machado, Floor -1,
garage 8 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 with entrance at C/ Antonio Machado, Floor -1,
garage 9 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 with entrance at C/ Antonio Machado, Floor -1,
garage 10 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 with entrance at C/ Antonio Machado, Floor -1,
garage 11 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 with entrance at C/ Antonio Machado, Floor -1,
garage 12 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 with entrance at C/ Antonio Machado, Floor -1,
garage 13 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 with entrance at C/ Antonio Machado, Floor -1,
garage 14 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 with entrance at C/ Antonio Machado, Floor -1,
garage 19 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 with entrance at C/ Antonio Machado, Floor -1,
garage 21 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 with entrance at C/ Antonio Machado, Floor -1,
garage 22 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17 with entrance at C/ Antonio Machado, Floor -1,
garage 23 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17, Floor -1, Storeroom 1 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17, Floor -1, Storeroom 2 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)

Registration
Data
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Torrijos
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon

Land
Registry
26,007
26,009
26,012
26,013
20,387
20,388
20,389
20,390
20,391
20,392
20,393
20,394
25,827
25,828
25,829
25,830
25,831
25,832
25,833
25,834
25,817
25,819
25,820
25,821
25,822
25,823
25,825
25,826
25,827
25,828
25,829
25,831
25,833
25,836
25,837

Type of
Asset
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
GARAGE
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING
DWELLING

Acquisition
Date
28/12/2021
28/12/2021
28/12/2021
28/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,838

DWELLING

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,839

DWELLING

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,783

GARAGE

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,784

GARAGE

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,785

GARAGE

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,786

GARAGE

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,787

GARAGE

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,788

GARAGE

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,790

GARAGE

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,791

GARAGE

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,792

GARAGE

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,793

GARAGE

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,794

GARAGE

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,795

GARAGE

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,796

GARAGE

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,801

GARAGE

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,803

GARAGE

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,804

GARAGE

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon

25,805

30/12/2021

L.R. Tarancon
L.R. Tarancon

25,806
25,807

GARAGE
STOREROO
M
STOREROO

30/12/2021
30/12/2021
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Address

Registration
Data

Land
Registry

C/ San Víctor nº 17, Floor -1, Storeroom 3 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)

L.R. Tarancon

25,808

C/ San Víctor nº 17, Floor -1, Storeroom 4 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)

L.R. Tarancon

25,809

C/ San Víctor nº 17, Floor -1, Storeroom 5 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)

L.R. Tarancon

25,810

C/ San Víctor nº 17, Floor -1, Storeroom 6 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)

L.R. Tarancon

25,811

C/ San Víctor nº 17, Floor -1, Storeroom 7 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)

L.R. Tarancon

25,812

C/ San Víctor nº 17, Floor -1, Storeroom 8 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)

L.R. Tarancon

25,813

C/ San Víctor nº 17, Floor -1, Storeroom 9 - 16400 Tarancón (Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17, Floor -1, Storeroom 10 - 16400 Tarancón
(Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17, Floor -1, Storeroom 11 - 16400 Tarancón
(Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17, Floor -1, Storeroom 12 - 16400 Tarancón
(Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17, Floor -1, Storeroom 13 - 16400 Tarancón
(Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17, Floor -1, Storeroom 14 - 16400 Tarancón
(Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17, Floor -1, Storeroom 19 - 16400 Tarancón
(Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17, Floor -1, Storeroom 22 - 16400 Tarancón
(Cuenca)
C/ San Víctor nº 17, Floor -1, Storeroom 23 - 16400 Tarancón
(Cuenca)

L.R. Tarancon

25,814

L.R. Tarancon

25,815

L.R. Tarancon

25,816

L.R. Tarancon

25,840

L.R. Tarancon

25,841

L.R. Tarancon

25,842

L.R. Tarancon

25,847

L.R. Tarancon

25,850

L.R. Tarancon

25,851

Type of
Asset
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M
STOREROO
M

Acquisition
Date

30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
30/12/2021
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1.

Organizational structure and operation

Ktesios Real Estate SOCIMI, S.A. (hereinafter the "Company" or "Ktesios") was incorporated in Spain on 21 March
2019 in accordance with the Corporate Enterprises Act.
On 25 September 2019, the Company notified the tax authorities of its option to apply the system for Spanish
Real Estate Investment Trusts retroactively from its incorporation on 21 March 2019.
The Board of Directors of Ktesios, which is composed of three directors, conducts its business in accordance
with the rules of corporate governance as set out mainly in the Articles of Association and in compliance with
the well-known principles of good business practice.
On 6 November 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with RKS Asset Management, S.L.U. (formerly
"Active Rents Management, S.L.U." and hereinafter "RKS") for Property Management. The contract is for 10 years
and may be automatically extended for further periods of 5 years if it is not terminated by either party (see note
1.d to the financial statements).
On 6 November 2019, the Company entered into an Asset Management contract with RKS Asset Management,
S.L.U. (formerly Return Kapital Solutions, S.L.U.). The contract was amended on 1 January 2020 to detail the
scope of services provided. The contract is for 10 years and may be automatically extended for further periods
of 5 years if it is not terminated by either party (see note 1.e to the financial statements).
At the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on 24 November 2020, it was resolved to apply for
admission to trading of all the Company's shares on EURONEXT ACCESS in Lisbon. 1 June 2021 was the first day
on which the Company's shares were traded on the multilateral trading facility. The reference price was set at
12.00 euros per share.
2.

Business performance and results

During the 2019 financial year, the Company completed the acquisition of three lots of residential properties
with 83 dwellings, 1 office, 22 garages and 3 storerooms; among 9 buildings or groups of homes in the towns of
Cazalegas, Rielves, Tembleque, Villaseca de la Sagra and Fuensalida in the province of Toledo, and in Tomelloso,
Malagón and Miguelturra in the province of Ciudad Real. The total price of the operations was 3,350,373 euros.
During the financial year 2020, the Company completed the acquisition of three lots of residential properties
with 65 dwellings, 25 garages, 15 storerooms and an undivided 87.5% interest in a premises (basement) for
parking spaces and storage rooms where Ktesios has allocated 27 garages and 2 storerooms; between 4
buildings in the towns of Santa Olalla and Mejorada in the province of Toledo, Herencia in the province of Ciudad
Real, and in Algeciras in the province of Cádiz. The total price of the operations was 2,608,112 euros, of which
42,845 euros were added during 2021.
During the year 2021, the Company completed the following transactions:
-

On 5 March 2021, the Company formalised the purchase of a building of 15 dwellings in the town of
Alcantarilla, in the province of Murcia. The total price of the transaction was made up of a purchase
price of 340,000 euros. In addition, an amount of 14,621 euros of transaction costs and 385,250 euros
of adaptation costs have been capitalised. The properties were appraised in the previous weeks in
accordance with Order ECO/805/2003 of 27 March 2003 on rules for the valuation of real estate and
certain rights for certain financial purposes (hereinafter "ECO appraisal"), coming to a value of EUR
452,363 (prior to the adjustment).

-

On 27 October 2021, the Company formalised the purchase of 18 homes in 3 buildings in the towns of
Caudete, in the province of Albacete, and in Teulada and Catral, in the province of Alicante. The total
price of the operation was 843,800 euros for purchase, 35,802 euros in transaction costs and 40,180
euros for adjustment. The properties were valued at 31 December 2021 according to RICS valuation
criteria, reaching a value of 1,929,229 euros.

-

On 28 December 2021, the Company formalised the purchase of 17 homes and 17 garages in the town
of Tarancón, province of Cuenca. The total price of the operation was 918,000 euros for purchase and
34,054 euros in transaction costs. The properties were appraised in the post-acquisition weeks
following RICS valuations, at a value of 1,812,969 thousand euros.
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-

On 30 December 2021, the Company formalised the purchase of 25 homes , 25 garages and 17 storage
rooms in 2 buildings in the towns of Tarancon in the province of Cuenca, and Fuensalida, in the
province Toledo. The total price of the operation was 1,075,000 euros for purchase and 140,167 euros
in transaction costs. The properties were valued at in the following weeks using RICS valuation criteria,
reaching a value of 2,361,284 euros.

As at 31 December 2021, investment property amounts to EUR 9,689,965 (31 December 2020: EUR 5,905,736).
The value of the properties, as assessed by an independent expert according to RICS criteria, is 21,111,828 euros.
The fully paid-up share capital amounts to EUR 8,680,010 (EUR 5,300,000 as at 31 December 2020), with a share
premium of EUR 974,302 (EUR 214,300 as at 31 December 2020).
On 01 April 2019, the Company arranged a mortgage loan for 585,000 euros, maturing in 15 years at a fixed
interest rate of 2.5% and with a 12-month grace period.
On 21 June 2019, the Company arranged a mortgage loan for 1,170,000 euros, maturing in 15 years at a fixed
interest rate of 2.15% and with a 12-month grace period.
Later, on 30 September 2019, the Company arranged a mortgage loan for 497,700 euros, maturing in 15 years
at a fixed interest rate of 2.15% and with a 12-month grace period.
On 28 January 2020, the Company arranged a mortgage loan for 354,864 euros, maturing in 15 years at a fixed
interest rate of 2.0% and with a 12-month grace period.
On 30 June 2020, the Company arranged a mortgage loan for 188,482 euros, maturing in 15 years at a fixed
interest rate of 2.0% and with a 12-month grace period.
On 05 March 2021, the Company arranged a mortgage loan for 355,000 euros, maturing in 15 years at a variable
rate of Euribor 12 months plus a spread of 2%.
Finally, on 30 December 2021, the Company arranged a mortgage loan of 752,500 euros, maturing in 15 years
at a fixed interest rate of 2.25% and with a 12-month grace period.
In addition, on 2 September 2021, the Company entered into a credit facility with Bankinter for a maximum
amount of 300,000 euros, maturing in one year and bearing interest at a floating rate of Euribor 12 months (with
a minimum of 0%) plus a spread of 1.75% on the principal drawn down and a fixed interest rate of 0.25% on
the principal not drawn down. On 27 October 2021, the Company extended the limit of the credit facility to EUR
500,000. As at 31 December 2021, the capital drawn down was EUR 301,205.
As at 31 December 2021 the nominal amount of the loans is EUR 3,956,761 (31 December 2020: EUR 2,713,013),
the carrying amount of the amortised cost being EUR 3,865,448 (31 December 2020: EUR 2,645,360), which
includes outstanding accrued interest of EUR 2,607 (31 December 2020: EUR 3,115).
The net turnover for the financial year 2021 amounts to 514,334 euros (267,913 euros in the financial year
2020). The result for the financial year 2021 is a loss of EUR 68,831 (loss of EUR 569,609 in the financial year
2020).
The evolution of the Company is based on a strategy based on:
-

Future growth through the acquisition of new property lots. These acquisitions will be financed with
resources from capital increases and mortgage financing.

-

Use of the properties for rent.

3.

Risk

The Company has established the necessary mechanisms to control exposure to credit and liquidity risks. The
main financial risks affecting the Company are as follows:
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Credit risk
Credit risk represents the losses that the Company would suffer in the event that a counterparty failed to meet
its contractual payment obligations to the Company.
The default ratio at 31 December 2021 of the tenant portfolio is higher than expected at 13.2% (7.4% at 31
December 2020). However, rental contracts are covered by a rent default insurance that covers 12 months' rent,
eviction costs (up to a maximum of 3,000 euros) and up to 3,000 euros for vandalism. As a result, a number of
claims are pending from the income default insurance company.
With regard to financial positions, the Company's policy is to maintain its cash position with financial
institutions of recognised standing (see note 9 to the financial statements).
Liquidity risk
This risk reflects the possible difficulty that the Company may not have, or may not be able to access, sufficient
liquid funds at an appropriate cost to enable it to meet its payment obligations at all times.
In order to ensure liquidity and to be able to meet all payment commitments arising from its activity, the
Company has cash at its disposal as shown on its balance sheet.
Interest rate risk
The Company has mitigated its interest rate risk by arranging fixed-rate financing. 83.4% of the financing
contracted with credit institutions is of this type. The Company's interest rate risk arises mainly from debt with
credit institutions issued at variable interest rates, the main reference rate being Euribor. This class represents
16.6% of the debt with credit institutions.
Currency risk
The Company is not exposed to exchange rate risk since it carries out its operations in the Euro which is its
functional and presentation currency.
Tax risk
As mentioned in Note 1, in 2019 the Company availed itself of the special REIT tax regime. Pursuant to Article 6
of Law 11/2009 of 26 October 2009, as amended by Law 16/2012 of 27 December 2012, as amended by Law
11/2021 of 9 July 21, which regulates "Spanish Real Estate Investment Trusts", the companies that have opted
for this regime are obliged, once the corresponding commercial obligations have been fulfilled, they are obliged
to distribute the profit obtained in the financial year, and the distribution must be agreed within six months of
the end of each financial year and paid within the month following the date of the distribution agreement.
In the event that the shareholders do not approve the distribution of dividends proposed by the governing body
which has been calculated according to the requirements set forth in the aforementioned Law, they would not
be complying with it, and therefore would be liable to pay taxes under the general tax regime and not the one
applicable to the REITs. However, this distribution of results, in accordance with the requirements of the REIT
Law, is a policy of the Company to the extent that it is included in the Articles of Association.
In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the Company has mitigated the non-compliance risks for taxation under
the special REIT regime to acceptable levels.

4.

Research and Development

The Company did not carry out research and development activities during the year.
5.

Stock market performance
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All of the Company's shares are admitted to trading on the Euronext Access multilateral trading system in
Lisbon. The date on which the first shares started trading was 1 June 2021 and the initial reference price was
EUR 12.00 per share.
6.

Own shares

As at 31 December 2021, the Company holds a total of 1,695 treasury shares (it did not hold any treasury
shares as at 31 December 2020), representing 0.20% of the total share capital (0% as at 31 December 2020).
During the financial year 2020 it did not hold any treasury shares. The situation was the same in 2019.
During the financial year 2021, the Company purchased 1,695 shares at a total price of EUR 20,933 (no
purchase in the financial year 2020) and did not sell any treasury shares (no sale in the financial year 2020).
7.

Average payment period to suppliers

The information required by the third additional provision of Law 15/2010 of July 5 (modified by the Second
Final Provision of Law 31/2014 of December 3) prepared in accordance with the ICAC Resolution of January 29,
2016, on the information to be included in the financial statements report regarding the average period for
payment to suppliers in commercial transactions, is detailed below. The provisions of Article 4 of Law 3/2004,
of 29 December, which establishes measures to combat late payment in commercial transactions, are complied
with.
2020

Days

Days

Average payment period to suppliers

6

10

Paid Transaction Ratio

6

10

Outstanding Transactions Ratio

4

12

Euros

Euros

1,170,520

718,305

151,375

47,028

Total payments made
Total outstanding payments

8.

2021

Subsequent events

On 23 February 2022, a transaction was carried out whereby the Company acquired 8 new homes in a building
located in the town of Yuncler (Toledo). The purchase price was 415,000 euros. There is no independent
valuation of all the properties. Only 5 of the 8 dwellings. This is an ECO appraisal which resulted in a value of
385,600 euros. Seven of the eight dwellings were already rented at the time of the sale, and the Company was
subrogated to these contracts. Mortgage financing has been granted by Unicaja Banco S.A. in the amount of
176,500 euros, with a maturity of 15 years and a fixed interest rate of 2.25%.
On 2 March 2022, the transaction formalising the promise of payment in kind in Note 7.1 was executed, resulting
in the acquisition of 12 new homes in a development located in Moncada (Valencia). The sale was made by way
of payment in kind. There is no independent valuation of the properties. All of the properties were already leased
at the time of the sale and the Company was subrogated to these contracts. In addition, in the same act, the
purchase and sale of 8 parking spaces in the same location was executed for 48,000 euros.
On 29 March 2022, a transaction was carried out whereby the Company acquired 39 new homes in a building in
the town of Xilxes (Castellón). The purchase price was 2,400,000 euros. There is no independent valuation of
the properties. 94.9% of the dwellings were already leased at the time of the sale and purchase, and the Company
was subrogated to these contracts.
9.

Outlook for 2022

Ktesios' strategy of acquiring residential properties in areas not frequented by other major real estate players
in order to create a rental market in these locations has proven to be successful in terms of profitability and the
social impact generated in the locations invested in by Ktesios. In this regard, during 2022, Ktesios' real estate
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portfolio is expected to grow significantly through the completion of transactions similar to those executed so
far.
No appreciable changes are expected in the prices of the properties purchased, nor in the rents they have or
could have, unless an inflationary spiral were to occur.
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PREPARATION OF THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31 DECEMBER
2021
On 31 March 2022, the Board of Directors of Ktesios Real Estate SOCIMI, S.A. and in
compliance with the requirements established in article 253 of the Corporate Enterprises
Act and article 37 of the Commercial Code, proceeds to prepare the financial statements
(Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow
Statement and Annual Report, together with the Directors' Report) for the year ended 31
December 2021, which are constituted by the documents attached hereto.

_____________________________________________ _____________________________________________
Mr. Henry Noel Gallego Grajales
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Mr. Bernhard Schmidt
Board member

_____________________________________________
Mr. Gonzalo Vicente Roca Pérez
Board member
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